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Honmyue Enterprise Co. Ltd 

   2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 
 

Time: 9:00 a.m. on Thursday, June 26, 2025 

Venue: No. 60, Gongxi 1st Rd, Shengang Township, Changhua County. (The 

Administration building) 

Method of Convening: In-Person Shareholders’ meeting. 

Chairman: Po-Yu, Yeh Chairman 

I.  Declare the opening of the Meeting 

II. Chairman’s Address 

III.  Report Items: 

1.Business Report for the Year 2024. 

2. Audit Committee’s Review Report for the Company’s Financial Statement and 

Annual Report for the Year 2024. 

3. Report on the Distribution of Annual Employee and Director Compensation for the 

Year 2024. 

4.Report on the execution of domestic unsecured convertible bonds by the Company. 

5.Implementation of Investments in the PRC. 

6.Other Reported Items. 

IV.  Proposed Resolutions 

1.2024 Business Report and the Financial Statements. 

2.2024 Earnings Distribution. 

V.  Discussions 

Proposal for the amendments to the Articles of Incorporation  

VI.  Extraordinary Motion 

VII.  Adjournment 
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Report Items 
Report No.1 

Business Report for the Year 2024. 

Explanatory Notes: 

Business Report for the Year 2024, please refer to Attachment 1, (page 5-6). 

Report No. 2 

Audit Committee’s Review Report for the Company’s Financial Statement and Annual 

Report for the Year 2024. 

Explanatory Notes: 

2024 Audit Committee’s Review Report for the Company has been reviewed and 

completed by Audit Committee, and the report has been issued, please refer to Attachment 

2, (page 7). 

Report No. 3 

Report on the Distribution of Annual Employee and Director Compensation for the Year 

2024. 

Explanatory Notes: 
 1.According to the allocation rate in Company’s Article of Incorporation and 

the profit of 2024, and by the approval of the Remuneration Committee 

and Board of Directors, the 2024 employee remuneration are distributed 

all by cash of NT$3,482,269 and director remuneration of NT$3,482,269.  

 2.The above distribution amount is consistent with the recognized expense 

amount for the year 2024. 

Report No. 4 

Report on the execution of domestic unsecured convertible bonds by the Company. 

Explanatory Notes: 

 1.The Company’s 2nd domestic unsecured convertible bonds have 

terminated on January 26, 2025, and ceased transactions at TPEx. 

 2.The Company's 3rd domestic unsecured convertible bonds were approved 

by the Financial Supervisory Commission on January 15, 2025, under 

letter No. 1130368407, and have been traded at security exchanges since 

March 31, 2025. 

 3.For the execution of domestic unsecured convertible bonds by the 

Company, please refer to Attachment 3. (page 8-9). 

Report No. 5 

Implementation of investments in the PRC. 

Explanatory Notes: 

Implementation of investments in the PRC as December 31, 2024, please refer to 

Attachment 4. (page 10). 

Report No. 6 

Other report items. 

Explanatory Notes: 

The 2025 Annual General Meeting accepted shareholder proposals from April 21, 2025 to 

April 30, 2025, but did not receive any proposals from shareholders. 
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Proposed Resolutions 
Report No. 1                                           Proposed by the Board 

Business Report and the Financial Statements for the Year 2024. 

Explanatory Notes: 

 1.Business Report for the Year 2024, please refer to Attachment 1, (page 

5-6). 

 2.The Company’s consolidated financial statements and personal financial 

statements for the Year 2024 have been approved by the Board of 

Directors and have been audited by the accountants Yu-Chuan Wang, and 

Shu-Hua Hung from PwC Taiwan, please refer to Attachment 5, (page 

11-21), Attachment 6, (page 22-31). 

Resolution: 

 

Report No. 2                                           Proposed by the Board                                                       

Earnings Distribution for the Year 2024. 

Explanatory Notes:  
 1.The net income after tax of the Company's financial statement for the fiscal year 

2024 is NTD 106,924,349. 

 2.The proposed Earnings Distribution table is as follows: 

 
Honmyue Enterprise Co. Ltd 

Earnings Distribution Table 

Year of 2024 

                                         Unit: NTD $ 

Items Total 

Beginning retained earnings 315,360,835 

Add：Net income after tax 106,924,349 

Add：Other adjustment items 5,359,253 

Less：Legal reserve (11,228,360) 

Distributable net profit 416,416,077 

Distributable Items: Shareholders dividends – Cash 

(NT$0.4/share) 
(51,958,788) 

Undistributed retained earnings 364,457,289 

Chairman: Po-Yu Yeh     Manager: Cheng-Pei Kuo     Accounting manager: Li-Che Pan 

 3.After the approval of the cash dividend at the Annual General Meeting, it is 

proposed that the shareholders authorize the Board of Directors to set the record 

date and payment date for the dividend distribution. Cash dividends will be 

calculated based on the distribution ratio up to the nearest dollar (amounts less 

than one NTD will be discarded). The total amount of fractional amounts less 

than one NTD will be adjusted in order from the largest to smallest decimal 

places and from the first to last account numbers (excluding overseas and 

corporate shareholders) to match the total cash dividend distribution amount. 

 

4.If subsequent changes in the company's capital affect the number of outstanding 

shares, resulting in changes to the dividend rate for shareholders, or if changes 

are required by the competent authorities, it is proposed that the shareholders 

authorize the Board of Directors to handle such matters with full authority. 

Resolution: 
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Discussions 
                                          Proposed by the Board 

Proposal:The amendments to the Articles of Incorporation 

Explanatory Notes:  

1.According to Article 14, Paragraph 6 of the Securities and Exchange Act: 

The company shall stipulate in its Articles of Incorporation that a certain 

percentage of annual profits be allocated for adjusting salaries or 

distributing remuneration to grassroots employees. It is proposed to amend 

certain articles of the Company's Articles of Incorporation. 

2.For Comparison Table of Partial Amendments to the Articles of 

Incorporation, please refer to Attachment 7 (page 32-33). 

Resolution: 

 

 

 

 

Extraordinary Motion 

 

Adjournment 
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【Attachment 1】 

Business Report for the Year 2024 
 

In recent years, the global political and economic situation has been turbulent, affected by 

international events such as the pandemic, inflation, war, and geopolitical issues. The global 

consumer market's procurement strategies remain quite conservative. At the same time, the 

oversupply in China's textile market has also impacted our country's textile industry to 

varying degrees from top to bottom. 

Facing the challenges of industry cycles and external uncertainties, the Company will 

continue to deepen product innovation and market agility. Through resource integration and 

strengthening organizational resilience, we will steadily expand potential markets and 

emerging customer groups, while deepening cooperation and partnership management 

within the existing customer value chain. 

Additionally, by utilizing AI technology, we will optimize production processes, promote 

equipment improvements, and implement energy-saving and emission-reduction measures. 

Together with upstream and downstream supply chain partners, we will use recycled 

materials to develop eco-friendly products, creating diverse values and jointly moving 

towards a low-carbon sustainable vision. 

 

The implementation results of the operating plan, financial ratios, profitability analysis, and 

research and development status for the 2024 fiscal year are as follows: 

1.The implementation results of the operational plan 
Unit: NTD Thousand 

            Year 

Subject 
2024 2023 

Add or subtract change 

Amount Change ratio 

Net operating revenue 3,168,177 2,685,726 482,451 17.96% 

Cost of revenue 2,879,221 2,474,942 404,279 16.33% 

Gross profit 288,956 210,784 78,172 37.09% 

Operating expense 351,563 302,551 49,012 16.20% 

Operating profit (loss) (62,607) (91,767) 29,160 31.78% 

Non-operating revenue 

and expenses 
176,396 50,415 125,981 249.89% 

Net profit (loss) before 

tax 
113,789 (41,352) 155,141 375.17% 

Net profit (loss) for 

current period 
107,692 (43,378) 151,070 348.26% 

2.Budget execution status: Not applicable 

The Company only set internal budget targets for fiscal year 2024 and did not 

publicly disclose any financial forecasts. 

3.Financial ratio and Profitability analysis 
Items 2024 2023 

Financial structure 

Debts ratio 44.24% 46.00% 

The ratio of long-term funds of 

real estate, factory buildings, 

and equipment 

169.81% 187.89% 

Solvency ratios 
Current ratio 148.80% 189.17% 

Quick ratio 78.30% 97.27% 

Profitability 

Return on Asset 3.27% (0.61%) 

Return on Equity 5.12% (2.08%) 

Operating profit 3.40% (1.62%) 

Earning per shares (yuan) 0.82 (0.34) 
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4.Research and development status 

In the face of the global industry's transition to net-zero and accelerated material 

innovation, Honmyue focuses on "technology innovation leading to value 

upgrading" as the core of its R&D. The company emphasizes four main areas: 

environmental sustainability, safety protection, functional comfort, and 

technological fashion, to advance the development of high-value products. In 2024, 

we will focus on key areas such as recycled materials, bio-based fibers, and 

low-carbon processes, continuously deepening technological breakthroughs and 

application transformations to enhance the differentiated competitiveness of 

materials. By participating in the Ministry of Economic Affairs' Sustainable 

Innovation R&D Program, the company integrates cross-domain R&D resources, 

introduces environmental impact assessment mechanisms, and constructs a digital 

platform for products to deepen the green innovation integration of performance 

and sustainability from the design end. 

 

Representative achievements of the year include: recycled textile materials, 

lightweight eco-friendly elastic fabrics, Envive weather-resistant Teslin, 

high-strength eco-friendly fabrics, and new hurricane-resistant fabrics, further 

demonstrating Honmyue's international competitiveness in both functionality and 

sustainability. 

 

 

 
Honmyue Enterprise Co. Ltd 

Chairman：Po-Yu Yeh 

Manager：Cheng-Pei Kuo 

Accounting Manager：Li-Che Pan 
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【Attachment 2】 

 

 

Honmyue Enterprise Co. Ltd 

Audit Committee’s Review Report 
The Board of Directors has presented the Company's annual business report, 

financial statements, and dividend distribution proposal for the 2024 fiscal year. 

The financial statements have been audited by the accountants Yu-Chuan Wang, 

and Shu-Hua Hung from PwC Taiwan, and an audit report has been issued. The 

business report, financial statements, and dividend distribution proposal have 

been reviewed by the audit committee and found to follow all relevant 

regulations. Therefore, we report the above in accordance with the relevant 

provisions of the Securities Exchange Act and the Company Act, please kindly 

request to put attention to this matter. 

 

       Sincerely yours, 

 

   The 2025 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of Honmyue Enterprise Co. Ltd 
 

 

   Chair of Audit Committee 

   Chen-Chi Hsiao 

    

 

 

 

 

March 10, 2025 
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【Attachment 3】 

The issue status of the domestic unsecured convertible bonds 
Type of Corporate Bond The 2nd domestic unsecured convertible bonds 

Date of Issue (processing) January 26th 2022 

Face Value NTD 100,000 in total 

Issue and Trading Floors Taipei Exchange 

Issue Price Issued at 109.01% of the face value 

Total Face Value NTD 300,000,000  

Interest Rate The coupon rate is 0% 

Term Three-year term：January 26th, 2025 

Guarantor Institution Not applicable 

Trustee Taishin International Bank 

Underwriter Mega Securities 

Signing Lawyer Handsome attorneys-at-law, Ya-wen Chiu Lawyer 

Signing Accountant PwC, Lan-Mei Liu Accountant, Yu-Chuan Wang Accountant 

Repayment Method 

Except for the holders of convertible corporate bonds who 

convert into common stocks of the Company in accordance 

with Article 10 of these Regulations, or whose bonds are 

redeemed in advance by the Company in accordance with 

Article 18 of these Regulations, or repurchased and cancelled 

by the securities dealers, the Company shall, within ten 

business days after the maturity date of the convertible 

corporate bonds, pay the bondholders the principal and interest 

compensation (the interest compensation at the time of 

maturity is 1.5075% of the face value, and the actual yield is 

0.5%) of the convertible corporate bonds held by the 

bondholders in cash as a one-time repayment. 

Unpaid Principal NTD 0  

Redemption or early repayment 

provisions 

Please refer to the Company's second Domestic Unsecured 

Convertible Corporate Bonds Offering and Conversion 

Procedures 

Restriction Provision 

Please refer to the Company's second Domestic Unsecured 

Convertible Corporate Bonds Offering and Conversion 

Procedures 

Name of credit rating agency, rating 

date, and corporate bond rating result 
Not applicable 

Attache

d other 

rights 

The amount of common 

stock, Depository Receipt, or 

other securities converted 

(exchanged or subscribed) as 

of the date of annual report 

printing 

None 

Issuance and Conversion 

(Exchange or Subscription) 

Procedures 

Please refer to the Company's second Domestic Unsecured 

Convertible Corporate Bonds Offering and Conversion 

Procedures 

Issuance and conversion, exchange or 

subscription procedures, impact of 

issuance conditions on possible equity 

dilution and on existing shareholders' 

equity 

None 

Name of substitution bid, the 

entrusted custodian institution 
None 
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The issue status of the 3rd domestic unsecured convertible bonds 
Type of Corporate Bond The 3rd domestic unsecured convertible bonds 

Date of Issue (processing) March 31st 2025 

Face Value NTD 100,000 in total 

Issue and Trading Floors Taipei Exchange 

Issue Price Issued at 101.5% of the face value 

Total Face Value NTD 300,000,000  

Interest Rate The coupon rate is 0% 

Term Three-year term：March 31st 2028 

Guarantor Institution Not applicable 

Trustee Yuanta Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. 

Underwriter Mega Securities 

Signing Lawyer Handsome attorneys-at-law, Ya-wen Chiu Lawyer 

Signing Accountant PwC, Yu-Chuan Wang Accountant, Shu-Hua Hung Accountant 

Repayment Method 

Except for the holders of convertible corporate bonds who 

convert into common stocks of the Company in accordance 

with Article 10 of these Regulations, or whose bonds are 

redeemed in advance by the Company in accordance with 

Article 18 of these Regulations, or repurchased and cancelled 

by the securities dealers, the Company shall, within five 

business days after the next day of maturity date of the 

convertible corporate bonds, pay the bondholders the principal 

and interest compensation (the interest compensation at the 

time of maturity is 1.5075% of the face value, and the actual 

yield is 0.5%) of the convertible corporate bonds held by the 

bondholders in cash as a one-time repayment. 

Unpaid Principal NTD 300,000,000  

Redemption or early repayment 

provisions 

Please refer to the Company's third Domestic Unsecured 

Convertible Corporate Bonds Offering and Conversion 

Procedures 

Restriction Provision 

Please refer to the Company's third Domestic Unsecured 

Convertible Corporate Bonds Offering and Conversion 

Procedures 

Name of credit rating agency, rating 

date, and corporate bond rating result 
Not applicable 

Attached 

other 

rights 

The amount of common 

stock, Depository Receipt, 

or other securities 

converted (exchanged or 

subscribed) as of the date 

of annual report printing 

Not converted yet 

Issuance and Conversion 

(Exchange or 

Subscription) Procedures 

Please refer to the Company's third Domestic Unsecured 

Convertible Corporate Bonds Offering and Conversion 

Procedures 

Issuance and conversion, exchange or 

subscription procedures, impact of 

issuance conditions on possible equity 

dilution and on existing shareholders' 

equity 

Assuming that all outstanding convertible corporate bonds 

are converted into common shares based on the current 

conversion price, a total of 20,689,655 common shares of the 

Company can be converted. Considering the total number of 

outstanding shares of 129,896,969 shares that the Company 

has currently issued and the number of convertible shares, the 

impact on shareholder equity is expected to be limited. 

Name of substitution bid, the 

entrusted custodian institution 
None 
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【Attachment 4】 

1. As of December 31, 2024, the investment status of the Company in China is as follows: 

 Unit：NTD Thousand 

name of company 

invested in Mainland 

China 

Main business items 
Investment 

method 

Paid-in 

capital. 

(Note 4) 

cumulative 

investment 

amount remitted 

from Taiwan at 

the beginning of 

the current period  

Investment amount remitted or 

recovered during the current period 

The cumulative 

amount of invested 

funds remitted from 

Taiwan for the 

current period by the 

end of the period 

(Note 5) 

The percentage of 

shareholding that 

the Company has 

directly or 

indirectly invested 

in 

The recognized 

investment 

gains/losses for the 

current period. (Note 

6) 

Period-end book 

value of investments 
Remitted Recover 

Hongyu Textile 

（Zhejiang） Limited 

Company 

The Company's main 

business is manufacturing 

and selling cotton fiber 

products and performing 

post-processing 

Note 1 560,624 536,721   536,721 100% 102,592 566,917 

Zhejiang Yaoliang Textile 

Limited Company  

The weaving, dyeing, 

and finishing of 

high-end fabric. 

Note 1 55,735 65,692   65,692 38.17% - - 

Jiujiang Deyu Textile 

Technology Co., Ltd 

Manufacturing and 

selling cotton and silk 

fiber products, and 

post-processing 

Note 2 673,515 497,590 154,730  652,320 100% (17,668) 606,295 

Jiujiang Hongzhi Textile 

Technology Co., Ltd 

The weaving, and 

finishing of high-end 

fabric. 

Note 3 44,901     70% (1,523) 29,908 

Note 1：The investment in Mainland China is made through a third-country company, HONGYU HOLDINGS L.L.C. 

Note 2：Direct investment in mainland China 

Note 3：Invest trough Hongyu Textile （Zhejiang） Limited Company 

Note 4：The figures in this table related to foreign currencies are converted into New Taiwan Dollars based on the exchange rates on the balance sheet date. 

Note 5：The accumulated investment amount remitted from Taiwan for the current period at the end of the period was converted based on the original investment exchange rate. 

Note 6：The recognized investment gains or losses for this period have been audited by the certified public accountant of the Taiwan parent company. 

2. The investment limit for investment in Mainland China is regulated by the relevant authorities in Taiwan and may be subject to change. 

Unit：NTD Thousand 

The cumulative amount of investment funds transferred from Taiwan to Mainland China 

during the current period as of the end of the period  

The approved investment amount by the Investment Commission 

of the Ministry of Economic Affairs.  

Investment limit to China as regulated by the Investment 

Commission of the Ministry of Economic Affairs.  

1,268,953 1,305,499 1,282,586 

Note 1：This table includes figures in foreign currencies, which are converted into New Taiwan Dollars using the relevant exchange rates on the balance sheet date. 

Note 2：The investment limit is calculated based on the "Principles for Examination of Investment or Technical Cooperation in Mainland China" issued by the Ministry of Economic Affairs, which stipulates that the investment limit is 60% of the net total. 

Note 3：The accumulated investment amount remitted from Taiwan to mainland China as of the end of this period is USD 16,242 million, JPY 299,876 million, and CNY 150,000 million. The approved investment amount by the Investment Commission, Ministry of 

Economic Affairs, is USD 39,820 million. The exchange rates used for conversion are 32.785 for USD, 0.2099 for JPY, and 4.4901 for CNY. 
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【Attachment 5】 

Independent Auditors’ Report 

(2025) Ministry of Finance approved No. 24002474 

 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders 

Honmyue Enterprise Co., Ltd. 

Opinion 

We have conducted an audit on the consolidated financial statements of Honmyue Enterprise Co., Ltd. 

and subsidiaries (referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, which 

include the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity, and 

statements of cash flows for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2024 and 2023. We have also 

reviewed the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which contain a summary of significant 

accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements presented herein, which were prepared in 

accordance with the "Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities 

Issuers," and the International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards, 

IFRIC Interpretations, and SIC Interpretations as endorsed by the Financial Supervisory Commission, 

fairly present the consolidated financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, as 

well as its consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flows for the period from January 

1 to December 31, 2024 and 2023, in all material respects. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the "Regulations Governing Auditing and Attestation of 

Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants" and the Generally Accepted Auditing Standards 

in the Republic of China (ROC GAAS). Our responsibility under these standards is explained further 

in the section titled "Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 

Statements." Our firm's staff members subject to independence requirements comply with the Codes of 

Professional Ethics for Certified Public Accountants in the Republic of China and have maintained 

their independence from the Group, fulfilling other ethical responsibilities as per the Codes. We are of 

the opinion that we have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to support our opinion. 

Key Audit Matter  

Key audit matters refer to those matters that, in our professional judgment, were most significant in the 

audit of the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year 2024. These matters were addressed 

as part of our overall audit of the consolidated financial statements, and we do not express a separate 

opinion on them.  



 

~12~ 

The key audit matters for the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year 2024 are as 

follows: 

Cutoff Point for Revenue Recognition 

Description 

For accounting policies on revenue recognition, please refer to Note 4(29) in the Consolidated 

Financial Statements. For statement of operating revenue, please refer to Note 6(19). The Group 

mainly engages in the manufacturing and sales of various cotton, wool, silk, and synthetic fiber 

textiles. Revenue from sales is recognized when control of the goods is transferred upon arrival at the 

destination port, based on the terms of the transaction, and is recognized at the end of each month 

through manual checking of the transaction date and the actual arrival date. This revenue recognition 

process involves many manual judgments and operations, which may result in revenue being recorded 

in the wrong period. Therefore, the cutoff date for revenue from sales is regarded as one of the key 

audit matters to be audited this year. 

Audit Procedure (How our audit addressed the matter) 

Our auditor's main audit procedures performed on the specific aspects described in the key audit 

matter are as follows: 

1. Obtain an understanding of and evaluated the sales transaction operation procedures and internal 

controls, and tested these controls to assess the effectiveness of management's control over the 

timing of the recognition of sales revenue. 

2. Verify sales transactions for a certain period before and after the balance sheet date by checking 

the transaction documents to confirm that sales transactions were recorded in the appropriate 

period. 

Allowance for Inventory Valuation Losses  

Description 

Regarding the accounting policies for inventory valuation, please refer to Note 4(14) in the 

consolidated financial statements. For the significant accounting estimates and assumptions related to 

inventory valuation and their uncertainties, please refer to Note 5 in the consolidated financial 

statements. For the explanation of inventory provision for impairment, please refer to Note 6(4) in the 

consolidated financial statements. As of December 31, 2024, the inventory and allowance for 

inventory valuation losses of the Group amounted to NT$982,182 thousand and NT$111,317 thousand, 

respectively. 

The Group mainly engages in the manufacturing and sales of various cotton, wool, silk, and synthetic 

fiber textiles. For inventory that has been held for a specific period of time or that has been 

individually identified as impaired, the Group measures the inventory at cost or net realizable value, 

whichever is lower, and provides for inventory write-downs based on the usability of inventory that 
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has been identified as obsolete or damaged. Given that the provision for inventory valuation losses has 

a significant impact on the financial statements of the Group and that the valuation of inventory at net 

realizable value at the balance sheet date requires judgement and estimation, the assessment of the 

provision for inventory valuation losses is regarded as one of the key audit matters to be audited this 

year  

Audit Procedure (How our audit addressed the matter) 

Our auditor's main audit procedures performed on the specific aspects described in the key audit 

matter are as follows: 

1. Understand the operation and nature of the Group, evaluate the reasonableness of its inventory 

provision policy for assessing inventory impairment losses. 

2. Review the annual inventory counting plan of the Group and participate in the annual inventory 

count to assess the effectiveness of management's segregation and control of obsolete inventory. 

3. Review the supporting documents related to the inventory aging report to verify the dates of 

inventory movements, confirm the proper classification of inventory into aging categories, and 

recalculate the aging report in accordance with the Group's policies. 

4. Obtain the net realizable value reports of all inventory items, verify that the calculation logic is 

consistently applied, test the basis for the estimation of the net realizable value of inventory, 

including checking supporting documents such as sales prices, purchase prices, etc. Re-calculate 

and evaluate the reasonableness of the inventory valuation. 

 

Other matter - Parent company only financial statements 

We have audited and expressed an unqualified opinion on the Parent Company Only Financial 

Statements of Honmyue Enterprise Co., Ltd. as at and for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 

Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for preparing the consolidated  financial statements in compliance with 

the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and the 

International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards, IFRIC 

Interpretations, and SIC Interpretations as endorsed by the Financial Supervisory Commission, and 

maintaining adequate internal controls related to the preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements to ensure that there are no significant misrepresentations due to fraud or error. 

Management is responsible for evaluating the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing relevant matters, and using the going concern basis of accounting when preparing the 
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consolidated financial statements, unless management intends to liquidate the company or cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance, including audit committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s 

financial reporting process. 

 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  

The purpose of our audit of the consolidated financial statements is to obtain reasonable assurance that 

they are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error, and to issue an audit report. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but it does not guarantee that the audit, performed 

in accordance with ROC GAAS, will always detect a material misstatement when one exists. 

Misstatements can result from fraud or error and are considered material if they could reasonably be 

expected, individually or in aggregate, to influence the economic decisions of users based on these 

financial statements. 

As part of our audit in accordance with the ROC GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. In addition, we perform the following 

procedures: 

1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated financial statements, 

whether caused by fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures that are appropriate to 

address those risks, and obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to support our opinion. 

The risk of failing to detect a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than that of one due to 

error, because fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 

the override of internal control. 

2. Design appropriate audit procedures in the given circumstances, and obtain necessary 

understanding of internal control that is relevant to the audit. However, our objective is not to 

express an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control of the Group. 

3. Evaluate appropriateness of the accounting policies adopted by management, and the 

reasonableness of the accounting estimates and related disclosures. 

4. Assess the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and 

determine whether any events or conditions exist that may cast significant doubt on the Group's 

ability to continue as a going concern, based on the audit evidence obtained. If we conclude that a 

material uncertainty exists, we will draw attention to the related disclosures in the financial 

statements in our audit report or modify our opinion if such disclosures are inadequate. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our audit report. However, 

it should be noted that future events or conditions may lead to the Group's inability to continue as 
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a going concern. 

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the related disclosures, and determine whether the consolidated financial statements 

provide a fair representation of the underlying transactions and events in a manner that is 

appropriate. 

6. Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 

or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements. We are responsible for directing, supervising and performing the group audit, and for 

forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on the results of our audit. 

We communicate with the governance entity regarding various matters, such as the audit's planned 

scope and timeline, as well as significant audit findings, which may include significant deficiencies in 

internal control identified during the audit process. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a declaration that the personnel of our 

accounting firm who are subject to independence requirements have complied with the Code of Ethics 

for CPAs in the Republic of China concerning independence, and communicate to them any 

relationships and other matters that may be perceived to affect our independence, as well as any 

relevant safeguards. 

After communicating with those charged with governance, we determine the key audit matters that are 

of most significance in our audit of the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year 2024. 

We disclose these matters in our audit report, unless it is prohibited by law or regulation or, in 

exceptional cases. We decide not to communicate a specific matter in our report due to the potential 

negative impact on the public interest outweighing the benefits of such communication. 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Taiwan 

Wang, Yu-Chuan  

CPA 

Hung, Shu-Hua  

 

Financial Supervisory Commission  

Approval -certified No.: Jin-Guan-Certificate No. 1020028992 

Former Securities Commission of the Ministry of Finance 

Approval -certified No.: (85) Tai-Cai-Certificate (6) 68701 

 

March 10, 2025 
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     December 31, 2024   December 31, 2023  

 Assets  Notes  Amount   %   Amount   %  

 CURRENT ASSET                 

1100 Cash and cash equivalents  6(1)  $ 450,000   12   $ 431,458   12  

1110 Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss - current 

 6(2) 

  13,454   -    15,256   -  

1136 Financial assets at amortized cost 

- current 

 6(1) and 8 

  4,756   -    -   -  

1150 Notes receivable  6(3)   99,092   3    89,561   2  

1160 Notes receivables - related 

parties  

 7(2) 

  1,253   -    220   -  

1170 Accounts receivable  6(3)   591,684   15    513,350   14  

1180 Accounts receivable - related 

parties 

 7(2) 

  70   -    1,604   -  

1200 Other receivables  7(2)   26,322   1    34,350   1  

130X Inventories  6(4)   870,865   22    874,530   23  

1410 Prepayments  6(5)   199,862   5    153,005   4  

1470 Other current assets     2,570   -    1,788   -  

11XX Total current asset     2,259,928   58    2,115,122   56  

 NON-CURRENT ASSET                 

1517 Financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive 

income - non-current 

 6(6) 

  43,684   1    64,638   2  

1535 Financial assets carried at 

amortized cost - non-current 

 6(1), 8 

  11,300   -    13,462   -  

1550 Investment accounted for using 

equity method 

 6(7) 

  -   -    128   -  

1600 Property, plant and equipment  6(8), 8   1,400,668   36    1,408,738   38  

1755 Right-of-use assets  6(9), 7(2)   66,248   2    64,604   2  

1780 Intangible assets     15,196   -    11,829   -  

1840 Deferred tax assets  6(25)   34,878   1    42,587   1  

1900 Other non-current assets  8   65,406   2    43,895   1  

15XX Total non-current asset     1,637,380   42    1,649,881   44  

1XXX TOTAL ASSET    $ 3,897,308   100   $ 3,765,003   100  

 

(Continued)
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     December 31, 2024   December 31, 2023  

 Liabilities and Equity  Note  Amount   %   Amount   %  

 CURRENT LIABILITIES                 

2100 Short-term borrowings  6(10)  $ 490,317   13   $ 341,029   9  

2110 Short-term notes and bills 

payable 

 6(11) 

  -   -    29,923   1  

2130 Current contract liabilities  6(19)   51,369   1    25,287   1  

2150 Notes payable  7(2)   97,738   3    92,087   2  

2170 Accounts payable  7(2)   231,140   6    210,023   6  

2200 Other payables  6(12), 7(2)   232,283   6    185,692   5  

2230 Current income tax liabilities     2,802   -    12,196   -  

2320 Long-term liabilities within one 

year or one business cycle 

 6(13)(14) 

  408,056   10    153,999   4  

2399 Other current liabilities  6(9), 7(2)   5,092   -    67,847   2  

21XX Total current liabilities     1,518,797   39    1,118,083   30  

 NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES                 

2530 Bonds payable   6(13)   -   -    295,720   8  

2540 Long-term loan  6(14)   92,357   2    196,357   5  

2570 Deferred tax liabilities  6(25)   69,689   2    67,569   2  

2600 Other non-current liabilities  6(9)(15)(20), 7(2)   43,157   1    54,094   1  

25XX Total non-current liabilities     205,203   5    613,740   16  

2XXX Total liabilities     1,724,000   44    1,731,823   46  

 EQUITIES                 

 Equities attrib. to owner of the 

parent 

  

              

 Share capital  6(16)               

3110 Ordinary shares     1,298,970   33    1,298,970   35  

 Capital reserve  6(17)               

3200 Capital reserve     50,735   1    50,735   1  

 Retained earnings  6(18)               

3310 Legal reserve     239,318   6    239,318   6  

3320 Special Reserve     182,752   5    182,752   5  

3350 Unappropriated retained earnings     427,644   11    315,361   8  

 Other equity interest                 

3400 Other equity interest    ( 61,775 ) ( 1 ) (  83,123 ) ( 2 ) 

31XX Equity attrib. to owners of the 

parent 

  

  2,137,644   55    2,004,013   53  

36XX Non-controlling interests     35,664   1    29,167   1  

3XXX Total equity     2,173,308   56    2,033,180   54  

 Material contingent liabilities and 

unrecognized contractual 

commitments 

 9 

              

 Significant subsequent events  11               

3X2X Total liabilities and equity    $ 3,897,308   100   $ 3,765,003   100  
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     2024   2023  
Item  Note  Amount   %   Amount   %  

4000 Operating Revenue  6(19), 7(2)  $ 3,168,177   100   $ 2,685,726   100  
5000 Operating costs  6(4), 7(2) (  2,879,221 ) ( 91 ) (  2,474,942 ) ( 92 ) 
5900 Operating margin     288,956   9    210,784   8  
 Operating expenses  6(23)(24)               
6100 Sales and marketing expenses   (  120,164 ) ( 4 ) (  105,608 ) ( 4 ) 
6200 General and administrative 

expenses 
  

(  166,944 ) ( 5 ) (  147,776 ) ( 6 ) 
6300 Research and development 

expenses  
  

(  64,522 ) ( 2 ) (  53,995 ) ( 2 ) 
6450 Expected credit impairment loss  12(2)   67   -    4,828   -  
6000 Total Operating Expenses   (  351,563 ) ( 11 ) (  302,551 ) ( 12 ) 
6900 Operating loss   (  62,607 ) ( 2 ) (  91,767 ) ( 4 ) 
 Non-operating income and 

expenses 
  

              
7100 Interest income     3,153   -    6,842   -  
7010 Other income  6(20)   178,784   6    50,524   2  
7020 Other gains and losses  6(21)   16,643   -    18,236   1  
7050 Finance costs  6(22), 7(2) (  22,184 ) ( 1 ) (  25,187 ) ( 1 ) 
7000 Total non-operating income     176,396   5    50,415   2  
7900 Pretax profit (loss)     113,789   3  (  41,352 ) ( 2 ) 
7950 Income tax expense  6(25) (  6,097 )  -  (  2,026 )  -  
8200 Net profit (loss)    $ 107,692   3  ( $ 43,378 ) ( 2 ) 
 Other comprehensive income (net)                 
 Items that will not be reclassified to 

profit or loss 
  

              
8311 Measure on defined benefit plans  6(15)  $ 6,699   -   $ 1,515   -  
8316 Unrealized gains and losses on 

valuation of investment in equity 
instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income 

 6(6) 

(  20,954 )  -    4,920   -  
8349 Income tax related to components 

that are not reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss 

 6(25) 

  3,146   -  (  1,251 )  -  
8310 Total items that will not be 

reclassified to profit or loss 
  

(  11,109 )  -    5,184   -  
 Items that may be reclassified to 

profit or loss 
  

              
8361 Exchange difference arising 

from translation of foreign 
operation financial statements 

  

  38,064   1  (  18,926 )  -  
8300 Other comprehensive income 

(net) 
  

 $ 26,955   1  ( $ 13,742 )  -  
8500 Total comprehensive income    $ 134,647   4  ( $ 57,120 ) ( 2 ) 
 Net profit (loss) attributable to:                 
8610 Owners of the parent company    $ 106,924   3  ( $ 44,431 ) ( 2 ) 
8620 Non-controlling interests     768   -    1,053   -  
 Total    $ 107,692   3  ( $ 43,378 ) ( 2 ) 
 Total comprehensive income 

attributable to: 
  

              
8710 Owners of the parent company    $ 133,631   4  ( $ 58,173 ) ( 2 ) 
8720 Non-controlling interests     1,016   -    1,053   -  
 Total    $ 134,647   4  ( $ 57,120 ) ( 2 ) 
            
 Earnings (losses) per share  6(26)         
9750 Basic earnings (losses) per share    $ 0.82  ( $ 0.34 ) 
9850 Diluted earnings (losses) per 

share 
  

 $ 0.76  ( $ 0.34 ) 

 



HONMYUE ENTERPRISE CO., LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 

From January 1 to December 31, 2024 and 2023 
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 
   Equity Attributable to Owners of the Parent     
     Capital Surplus  Retained Earnings  Other Equity Interest       
 

Notes 

 

Share capital - 
common stock 

 

Treasury stock 
transactions 

 

Employ stock 
option 

 

Legal reserve 

 

Special reserve 

 

Unappropriated 
retained 
earnings 

 
Exchange 

differences from 
translating 

foreign 
operating 
financial 

statements 

 Unrealized 
gains or losses 

on financial 
assets at fair 

value through 
other 

comprehensive 
income 

 

Total 

 

Non-controlling 
interest 

 

Total equity 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
 Chairman: Yeh, Po-Yu Manager: Kuo, Cheng-Pei Chief Accountant: Pan, 

Li-Che 
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Year ended December 31, 2023                                              
Balance at January 1, 2023    $ 1,298,970    $ 5,887    $ 44,848    $ 231,804    $ 182,752    $ 419,140   ( $ 34,792 )  ( $ 33,377 )   $ 2,115,232    $ 21,640    $ 2,136,872  

Net loss    -    -    -    -    -   ( 44,431 )   -    -   ( 44,431 )   1,053   ( 43,378 ) 
Other comprehensive income    -    -    -    -    -    1,212   ( 18,926 )   3,972   ( 13,742 )   -   ( 13,742 ) 

Total comprehensive income    -    -    -    -    -   ( 43,219 )  ( 18,926 )   3,972   ( 58,173 )   1,053   ( 57,120 ) 

Earnings allocation and 
distribution in 2022 

6(18) 
                                            

Legal reserve    -    -    -    7,514    -   ( 7,514 )   -    -    -    -    -  
Cash dividends    -    -    -    -    -   ( 51,959 )   -    -   ( 51,959 )   -   ( 51,959 ) 

Increase in non-controlling 
interests  

4(3) 
  -    -    -    -    -   ( 1,087 )   -    -   ( 1,087 )   7,572    6,485  

Decrease in non-controlling 
interests 

 
  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   ( 1,098 )  ( 1,098 ) 

Balance at December 31,2023    $ 1,298,970    $ 5,887    $ 44,848    $ 239,318    $ 182,752    $ 315,361   ( $ 53,718 )  ( $ 29,405 )   $ 2,004,013    $ 29,167    $ 2,033,180  

Year ended December 31, 2024                                              
Balance at January 1, 2024    $ 1,298,970    $ 5,887    $ 44,848    $ 239,318    $ 182,752    $ 315,361   ( $ 53,718 )  ( $ 29,405 )   $ 2,004,013    $ 29,167    $ 2,033,180  

Net profit    -    -    -    -    -    106,924    -    -    106,924    768    107,692  
Other comprehensive income    -    -    -    -    -    5,359    37,816   ( 16,468 )   26,707    248    26,955  

Total comprehensive income    -    -    -    -    -    112,283    37,816   ( 16,468 )   133,631    1,016    134,647  

Increase in non-controlling 
interests 

4(3) 
  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    6,737    6,737  

Decrease in non-controlling 
interest 

 
  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   ( 1,256 )  ( 1,256 ) 

Balance at December 31, 2024    $ 1,298,970    $ 5,887    $ 44,848    $ 239,318    $ 182,752    $ 427,644   ( $ 15,902 )  ( $ 45,873 )   $ 2,137,644    $ 35,664    $ 2,173,308  
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(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 
  

Notes 
 From January 1 to 

December 31, 2024  
   From January 1 to 

December 31, 2023  
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
         

Pretax profit (loss)    $ 113,789   ( $ 41,352 ) 

Adjustments            

Adjustments to reconcile profit(loss)            

Depreciation expense (investment properties 

and right-of-use assets) 

 6(21)(23) 

  102,251     97,494  

Amortization expense  6(23)   1,757     2,977  

Reversal of expected credit loss recognized 

in profit or loss 

 712(2) 

(  67 )  (  4,828 ) 

Net gain on financial assets or liabilities at 

fair value through profit or loss 

 6(2)(21) 

  3,015     832  

Gain on disposal or retirement of property, 

plant and equipment 

 6(21) 

(  1,115 )  (  8,600 ) 

Gain on tangible asset  6(21)   -   (  19,340 ) 

Interest expense  6(22)   22,184     25,187  

Interest income   (  3,153 )  (  6,842 ) 

Dividend income  6(20) (  40 )  (  220 ) 

Compensation income  6(20) (  101,317 )  (  1,891 ) 

Government grant income  6(20) (  25,555 )    -  

Benefit from lease modification  6(9)   -   (  10 ) 

Gain on disposal of investments  6(21) (  4,043 )  (  2,580 ) 

Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain)   (  6,133 )    9,458  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities            

Changes in operating assets, net            

Notes receivable - net   (  397 )  (  7,697 ) 

Notes receivable - related party, net   (  1,033 )    76  

Accounts receivable   (  67,342 )  (  128,667 ) 

Accounts receivable - related parties     1,704     23,769  

Other receivables   (  6,117 )    13,916  

Inventories     10,525   (  62,993 ) 

Prepayments   (  41,561 )  (  5,573 ) 

Other current assets   (  782 )    1,497  

Other non-current assets     2,454     2,183  

Liabilities net change related to operation 

activities 

  

         

Contract liabilities - current     25,351     209  

Notes payable     5,651   (  30,073 ) 

Accounts payable     13,851     61,078  

Other payables     42,268   (  12,462 ) 

Other current liabilities   (  5,455 )    4,234  

Other non-current liabilities     1,538   (  374 ) 

Cash inflow from operation activities     82,228   (  90,592 ) 

Interest received     40     220  

Dividends received     3,409     7,249  

Interest paid   (  14,021 )  (  17,038 ) 

Income tax refunded     10     1,619  

Income tax paid   (  3,080 )  (  30,880 ) 

Net cash flows from operating activities     68,586   (  129,422 ) 

(Continued) 
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Notes 
 From January 1 to 

December 31, 2024  
   From January 1 to 

December 31, 2023  
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CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES            

Acquisition of financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 

  

( $ 16,054 )  ( $ 22,110 ) 

Disposal of financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss 

  

  18,884     17,729  

Acquisition of financial assets at amortized cost   (  4,756 )  (  2,162 ) 

Disposal of financial assets at amortized cost     2,246     300  

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment  6(27) (  101,690 )  (  97,339 ) 

Disposal of property, facility and equipment     2,616     20,006  

Acquisition of intangible assets   (  3,333 )  (  4,881 ) 

Gain on disposal of tangible assets     -     26,462  

Decrease in refundable deposits     2,648     335  

Deposals of investments accounted for using 

equity method 

 6(7) 

  114     -  

Decrease in other receivables     15,255     -  

Receipt of compensations  6(20)   39,996     91,494  

Acquisition of grants     25,032     -  

Net cash outflow from investing activities   (  19,042 )    29,834  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES            

Increase in short-term borrowings     1,341,589     823,059  

Decrease in short-term borrowings   (  1,192,340 )  (  721,630 ) 

Increase in short-term notes and bills payables     210,000     270,000  

Decrease in short-term notes and bills payables   (  240,000 )  (  240,000 ) 

Lease principal repayment  6(28) (  2,216 )  (  1,699 ) 

Repayments of long-term borrowings  6(28) (  153,999 )  (  170,667 ) 

Increase (decrease) in guaranteed deposits 

received 

 6(28) 

  3,531   (  5,362 ) 

Cash dividends paid  6(28) (  1,256 )  (  53,057 ) 

Changes in non-controlling interests     6,737     -  

Net Cash outflow from financing activities   (  27,954 )  (  99,356 ) 

Effects of foreign exchange rates   (  3,048 )  (  85 ) 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     18,542   (  199,029 ) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period     431,458     630,487  

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period    $ 450,000    $ 431,458  
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【Attachment 6】 

Independent Auditors’ Report 

(2025) Ministry of Finance approved No. 24002472 

 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders 

Honmyue Enterprise Co., Ltd. 

Opinion 

We have conducted an audit on the parent company only financial statements of Honmyue Enterprise 

Co., Ltd. (referred to as “Honmyue”) for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, which include 

the parent company only balance sheets, statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes 

in equity, and statements of cash flows for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

We have also reviewed the notes to the individual financial statements, which contain a summary of 

significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the parent company only financial statements presented herein, which were prepared in 

accordance with the "Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities 

Issuers," fairly present the parent company only financial position of Honmyue as of December 31, 

2024 and 2023, as well as its parent company only financial performance and parent company only 

cash flows for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2024 and 2023, in all material respects. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the "Regulations Governing Auditing and Attestation of 

Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants" and the Generally Accepted Auditing Standards 

in the Republic of China (ROC GAAS). Our responsibility under these standards is explained further 

in the section titled "Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Parent Company Only Financial 

Statements." Our firm's staff members subject to independence requirements comply with the Codes of 

Professional Ethics for Certified Public Accountants in the Republic of China and have maintained 

their independence from Honmyue, fulfilling other ethical responsibilities as per the Codes. We are of 

the opinion that we have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to support our opinion. 

Key Audit Matter 

Key audit matters refer to those matters that, in our professional judgment, were most significant in the 

audit of Honmyue's parent company only financial statements for the year 2024. These matters were 

addressed as part of our overall audit of the individual financial statements, and we do not express a 

separate opinion on them.  

The key audit matters for Honmyue's individual financial statements for the year 2024 are as follows: 

 

Cutoff Point for Revenue Recognition 

Description 

For accounting policies on revenue recognition, please refer to Note 4(29) in the Parent Company 

Only Financial Statements. For statement of operating revenue, please refer to Note 6(21).Honmyue 

mainly engages in the manufacturing and sales of various cotton, wool, silk, and synthetic fiber 

textiles. Revenue from sales is recognized when control of the goods is transferred upon arrival at the 

destination port, based on the terms of the transaction, and is recognized at the end of each month 

through manual checking of the transaction date and the actual arrival date. This revenue recognition 

process involves many manual judgments and operations, which may result in revenue being recorded 

in the wrong period. As this issue also exists in the subsidiary companies held by Honmyue, which are 

accounted for using the equity method, the cutoff date for revenue from sales is regarded as one of the 

key audit matters to be audited this year. 
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Audit Procedures Undertaken in Response to the Matter 

Our auditor's main audit procedures performed on the specific aspects described in the key audit 

matter are as follows: 

1. We gained an understanding of and evaluated the sales transaction operation procedures and 

internal controls, and tested these controls to assess the effectiveness of management's control 

over the timing of the recognition of sales revenue. 

2. We verified sales transactions for a certain period before and after the balance sheet date by 

checking the transaction documents to confirm that sales transactions were recorded in the 

appropriate period. 

Allowance for Inventory Valuation Losses  

Description 

Regarding the accounting policies for inventory valuation, please refer to Note 4(13) in the individual 

financial statements. For the significant accounting estimates and assumptions related to inventory 

valuation and their uncertainties, please refer to Note 5 in the individual financial statements. For the 

explanation of inventory provision for impairment, please refer to Note 6(4) in the individual financial 

statements. As of December 31, 2024, the inventory and allowance for inventory valuation losses of 

Honmyue amounted to NT$593,612 thousand and NT$61,648 thousand, respectively. 

Honmyue mainly engages in the manufacturing and sales of various cotton, wool, silk, and synthetic 

fiber textiles. For inventory that has been held for a specific period of time or that has been identified 

as impaired, the Company measures the inventory at cost or net realizable value, whichever is lower, 

and provides for inventory write-downs based on the usability of inventory that has been identified as 

obsolete or damaged. Given that the provision for inventory valuation losses has a significant impact 

on the financial statements of Honmyue and that the valuation of inventory at net realizable value at 

the balance sheet date requires judgement and estimation, and since the aforementioned matter also 

exists in the subsidiary companies held by Honmyue accounted for using the equity method, the 

assessment of the provision for inventory valuation losses is regarded as one of the key audit matters 

to be audited this year  

Audit Procedures Undertaken in Response to the Matter 

Our auditor's main audit procedures performed on the specific aspects described in the key audit 

matter are as follows: 

1. Understand the operation and nature of Honmyue, evaluate the reasonableness of its inventory 

provision policy for assessing inventory impairment losses. 

2. Review the annual inventory counting plan of Honmyue and participate in the annual inventory 

count to assess the effectiveness of management's segregation and control of obsolete inventory. 

3. Review the supporting documents related to the inventory aging report to verify the dates of 

inventory movements, confirm the proper classification of inventory into aging categories, and 

recalculate the aging report in accordance with the Company's policies. 

4. Obtain the net realizable value reports of all inventory items, verify that the calculation logic is 

consistently applied, test the basis for the estimation of the net realizable value of inventory, 

including checking supporting documents such as sales prices, purchase prices, etc. Re-calculate 

and evaluate the reasonableness of the inventory valuation. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Parent Company 

Only Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for preparing the parent company only financial statements in compliance 

with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and 

maintaining adequate internal controls related to the preparation of the parent company only financial 

statements to ensure that there are no significant misrepresentations due to fraud or error. 

Management is responsible for evaluating Honmyue's ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing relevant matters, and using the going concern basis of accounting when preparing the parent 
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company only financial statements, unless management intends to liquidate the company or cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance (including the supervisory committee) of Honmyue are responsible 

for overseeing the financial reporting process.  

 

Responsibilities of the Auditor for the Audit of the Parent Company Only Financial Statements  

The purpose of our audit of the parent company only financial statements is to obtain reasonable 

assurance that they are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error, and to issue 

an audit report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but it does not guarantee that the 

audit, performed in accordance with ROC GAAS, will always detect a material misstatement when 

one exists. Misstatements can result from fraud or error and are considered material if they could 

reasonably be expected, individually or in aggregate, to influence the economic decisions of users 

based on these financial statements. 

As part of our audit in accordance with the ROC GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. In addition, we perform the following 

procedures: 

1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the parent company only financial 

statements, whether caused by fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures that are 

appropriate to address those risks, and obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to support 

our opinion. The risk of failing to detect a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than that of 

one due to error, because fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

2. Design appropriate audit procedures in the given circumstances, and obtain necessary 

understanding of internal control that is relevant to the audit. However, our objective is not to 

express an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control of Honmyue. 

3. Evaluate appropriateness of the accounting policies adopted by management, and the 

reasonableness of the accounting estimates and related disclosures 

4. Assess the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and 

determine whether any events or conditions exist that may cast significant doubt on Honmyue's 

ability to continue as a going concern, based on the audit evidence obtained. If we conclude that a 

material uncertainty exists, we will draw attention to the related disclosures in the financial 

statements in our audit report or modify our opinion if such disclosures are inadequate. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our audit report. However, it 

should be noted that future events or conditions may lead to the Honmyue's inability to continue as 

a going concern. 

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the parent company only financial 

statements, including the related disclosures, and determine whether the parent only financial 

statements provide a fair representation of the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

is appropriate. 

6. Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 

or business activities within Honmyue in order to express an opinion on the parent company only 

financial statements. We are responsible for directing, supervising and performing the Company 

audit, and for forming an opinion on the parent company only financial statements based on the 

results of our audit. 

We communicate with the governance entity regarding various matters, such as the audit's planned 

scope and timeline, as well as significant audit findings, which may include significant deficiencies in 

internal control identified during the audit process. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a declaration that the personnel of our accounting 

firm who are subject to independence requirements have complied with the Code of Ethics for CPAs 

in the Republic of China concerning independence, and communicate to them any relationships and 
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other matters that may be perceived to affect our independence, as well as any relevant safeguards. 

After communicating with those charged with governance, we determine the key audit matters that are 

of most significance in our audit of Honmyue's parent company only financial statements for the year 

2024. We disclose these matters in our audit report, unless it is prohibited by law or regulation or, in 

exceptional cases. We decide not to communicate a specific matter in our report due to the potential 

negative impact on the public interest outweighing the benefits of such communication. 

 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Taiwan 
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CPA 

Hung, Shu-Hua  
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     December 31, 2024   December 31, 2023  

 Assets  Notes  Amount   %   Amount   %  

 CURRENT ASSET                 

1100 Cash and cash equivalents  6(1)  $ 294,841   8   $ 281,012   8  

1110 Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss - current 

 6(2) 

  -   -    -   -  

1150 Notes receivable  6(3)   58,568   2    55,301   2  

1160 Notes receivables - related 

parties 

 7(2) 

  1,248   -    173   -  

1170 Accounts receivable  6(3)   355,326   10    319,899   9  

1180 Accounts receivable - related 

parties 

 7(2) 

  22,109   1    51,844   2  

1200 Other receivables     812   -    1,247   -  

1210 Other receivables - related 

parties 

 7(2) 

  18,174   1    101,745   3  

1220 Current tax assets     591   -    -   -  

130X Inventories  6(4)   531,964   15    640,937   18  

1410 Prepayments     12,061   -    14,709   -  

1470 Other current assets     2,244   -    1,699   -  

11XX Total current asset     1,297,938   37    1,468,566   42  

 NON-CURRENT ASSET                 

1517 Financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive 

income - non-current 

 6(5) 

  43,684   1    64,638   2  

1535 Financial assets carried at 

amortized cost - non-current 

 6(6), 8 

  6,800   -    6,800   -  

1550 Investment accounted for using 

equity method 

 6(7) 

  1,309,489   37    1,034,865   30  

1600 Property, plant and equipment  6(8), 8   736,949   21    772,673   22  

1755 Right-of-use assets  6(9)   2,590   -    3,926   -  

1760 Investment property, net  6(11), 8   62,174   2    62,518   2  

1780 Intangible assets     14,441   1    11,329   -  

1840 Deferred tax assets  6(28)   33,969   1    32,964   1  

1900 Other non-current assets     13,442   -    15,483   1  

15XX Total non-current asset     2,223,538   63    2,005,196   58  

1XXX TOTAL ASSET    $ 3,521,476   100   $ 3,473,762   100  

 
(Continued) 
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     December 31, 2024   December 31, 2023  

 Liabilities and Equity  Note  Amount   %   Amount   %  

 CURRENT LIABILITIES                 

2100 Short-term borrowings  6(12)  $ 439,499   13   $ 308,849   9  

2110 Short-term notes and bills 

payable 

 6(13) 

  -   -    29,923   1  

2130 Current contract liabilities  6(21)   14,898   -    6,126   -  

2150 Notes payable     79,275   2    65,978   2  

2160 Notes payable - related parties  7(2)   113   -    2,372   -  

2170 Accounts payable     113,674   3    184,553   5  

2180 Accounts payable - related 

parties 

 7(2) 

  13,261   -    4,583   -  

2200 Other payables  6(14), 7(2)   147,228   4    130,771   4  

2230 Current income tax liabilities  6(28)   1,373   -    3,079   -  

2280 Leasing liabilities - current  6(9)   1,268   -    1,260   -  

2320 Long-term liabilities within one 

year or one business cycle 

 6(15)(16) 

  404,056   12    150,000   5  

2399 Other current liabilities     1,682   -    4,953   -  

21XX Total current liabilities     1,216,327   34    892,447   26  

 NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES                 

2530 Bonds payable  6(15)   -   -    295,720   8  

2540 Long-term loan  6(16)   88,690   3    188,690   5  

2570 Deferred tax liabilities  6(28)   69,672   2    67,569   2  

2580 Lease liability - non-current  6(9)   1,275   -    2,623   -  

2600 Other non-current liabilities  6(17)   7,868   -    22,700   1  

25XX Total non-current liabilities     167,505   5    577,302   16  

2XXX Total liabilities     1,383,832   39    1,469,749   42  

 EQUITIES                 

 Capital  6(18)               

3110 Common shares     1,298,970   37    1,298,970   38  

 Capital reserve  6(19)               

3200 Capital reserve     50,735   1    50,735   1  

 Retained earnings  6(20)               

3310 Legal reserve     239,318   7    239,318   7  

3320 Special reserve     182,752   5    182,752   5  

3350 Unappropriated retained earnings     427,644   12    315,361   9  

 Other equity interest                 

3400 Other equity interest   (  61,775 ) ( 1 ) (  83,123 ) ( 2 ) 

3XXX Total equity     2,137,644   61    2,004,013   58  

 Significant contingent liabilities and 

unrecognized commitments 

 9 

              

 Significant subsequent events  11               

3X2X Total liabilities and equities    $ 3,521,476   100   $ 3,473,762   100  
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     2024   2023  

Item  Notes  Amount   %   Amount   %  

4000 Operating Revenue  6(21), 7(2)  $ 2,092,743   100   $ 1,996,611   100  

5000 Operating costs  6(3)(26)(27), 7(2) (  1,883,763 ) ( 90 ) (  1,820,859 ) ( 91 ) 

5900 Operating margin     208,980   10    175,752   9  

 Operating expenses  6(26)(27)               

6100 Sales and marketing expenses   (  83,657 ) ( 4 ) (  77,166 ) ( 4 ) 

6200 General and administrative 

expenses 

  

(  104,320 ) ( 5 ) (  84,028 ) ( 4 ) 

6300 Research and development 

expenses 

  

(  36,259 ) ( 2 ) (  27,964 ) ( 2 ) 

6450 Expected credit impairment loss  12(2)   -   -    600   -  

6000 Total Operating Expenses   (  224,236 ) ( 11 ) (  188,558 ) ( 10 ) 

6900 Operating loss   (  15,256 ) ( 1 ) (  12,806 ) ( 1 ) 

 Non-operating income and expenses                 

7100 Interest income  6(22), 7(2)   2,710   -    6,839   -  

7010 Other income  6(23), 7(2)   40,347   2    32,146   2  

7020 Other gains and losses  6(24)   20,585   1  (  1,764 )  -  

7050 Finance costs  6(25) (  21,353 ) ( 1 ) (  21,170 ) ( 1 ) 

7070 Share of profit or loss of 

subsidiaries, associates, and joint 

ventures accounted for using the 

equity method 

 6(7) 

  82,078   4  (  47,428 ) ( 2 ) 

7000 Total non-operating income     124,367   6  (  31,377 ) ( 1 ) 

7900 Pretax net profit (loss)     109,111   5  (  44,183 ) ( 2 ) 

7950 Income tax expense  6(28) (  2,187 )  -  (  248 )  -  

8200 Net profits (loss)    $ 106,924   5  ( $ 44,431 ) ( 2 ) 

 Other comprehensive income (net)                 

 Not reclassified to profit or loss                 

8311 Measure on defined benefit 

plans 

 6(17) 

 $ 6,699   -   $ 1,515   -  

8316 Unrealized gains and losses on 

valuation of investment in 

equity instruments measured at 

fair value through other 

comprehensive income 

  

(  20,954 ) ( 1 )   4,920   -  

8349 Income tax related to 

components that are not 

reclassified subsequently to 

profit or loss 

 6(28) 

  3,146   -  (  1,251 )  -  

8310 Total not reclassified to profit or 

loss 

  

(  11,109 ) ( 1 )   5,184   -  

 Components that may be reclassified 

to profit or loss 

  

              

8361 Exchange difference arising 

from translation of foreign 

operation financial statements 

  

  37,816   2  (  18,926 ) ( 1 ) 

8360 Total Items that may be reclassified 

to profit and loss 

  

  37,816   2  (  18,926 ) ( 1 ) 

8300 Other comprehensive net 

gains/losses 

  

 $ 26,707   1  ( $ 13,742 ) ( 1 ) 

8500 Total comprehensive gains/losses    $ 133,631   6  ( $ 58,173 ) ( 3 ) 

            

 Earnings (Losses) per share  6(29)         

9750 Basic earnings (losses) per share    $ 0.82  ( $ 0.34 ) 

9850 Diluted earnings (losses) per share    $ 0.76  ( $ 0.34 ) 
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Notes 

 

Share capital - 

common stock 

 

Treasury stock 

transactions 

 

Employ stock 

option 

 

Legal reserve 

 

Special reserve 

 

Unappropriated 

retained earnings 

 
Exchange 

differences from 

translating foreign 
operating financial 

statements 

 Unrealized gains or 
losses on financial 

assets at fair value 

through other 
comprehensive 

income 

 

Total 
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Year ended December 31, 2023                                      

Balance at January 1, 2023    $1,298,970    $5,887    $44,848    $231,804    $182,752    $419,140   ( $34,792 )  ( $33,377 )   $2,115,232  

Net loss    -    -    -    -    -   ( 44,431 )   -    -   ( 44,431 ) 

Other comprehensive income 6(5)   -    -    -    -    -    1,212   ( 18,926 )   3,972   ( 13,742 ) 

Total comprehensive income    -    -    -    -    -   ( 43,219 )  ( 18,926 )   3,972   ( 58,173 ) 

Earnings allocation and 

distribution in 2022 

6(20) 

                                    

Legal reserve    -    -    -    7,514    -   ( 7,514 )   -    -    -  

Cash dividends    -    -    -    -    -   ( 51,959 )   -    -   ( 51,959 ) 

Changes in net worth of 

associates accounted for using 

equity method 

6(7)) 

  -    -    -    -    -   ( 1,087 )   -    -   ( 1,087 ) 

Balance at December 31, 2023    $1,298,970    $5,887    $44,848    $239,318    $182,752    $315,361   ( $53,718 )  ( $29,405 )   $2,004,013  

Year ended December 31, 2024                                      

Balance at January 1, 2024    $1,298,970    $5,887    $44,848    $239,318    $182,752    $315,361   ( $53,718 )  ( $29,405 )   $2,004,013  

Net profit    -    -    -    -    -    106,924    -    -    106,924  

Other comprehensive income    -    -    -    -    -    5,359    37,816   ( 16,468 )   26,707  

Total comprehensive income    -    -    -    -    -    112,283    37,816   ( 16,468 )   133,631  

Balance at December 31, 2024    $1,298,970    $5,887    $44,848    $239,318    $182,752    $427,644   ( $15,902 )  ( $45,873 )   $2,137,644  
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES            

Pretax profit (loss)    $ 109,111   ( $ 44,183 ) 

Adjustments            

Adjustments to reconcile profit(loss)            

Depreciation expense (investment properties and 

right-of-use assets) 

 6(24)(26) 

  49,062     52,078  

Amortization expense  6(26)   1,650     1,216  

Reversal of expected credit loss recognized in 

profit or loss 

 12(2) 

  -   (  600 ) 

Share of (profit) loss of subsidiaries, associates 

and joint ventures accounted for using equity 

method 

 6(7) 

(  82,078 )    47,428  

Net gain on financial assets or liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss 

 6(24) 

  -     180  

Gain on disposal or retirement of property, plant 

and equipment 

 6(24) 

(  110 )  (  1,826 ) 

Interest expense  6(25)   21,353     21,170  

Interest income  6(22) (  2,710 )  (  6,839 ) 

Dividend income  6(5) (  40 )  (  20 ) 

Gain from lease modification  6(9)   -   (  10 ) 

Government grant income  6(23) (  22,766 )    -  

Unrealized gain(loss) on foreign currency 

exchange 

  

(  6,226 )    2,273  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities            

Changes in operating assets, net            

Notes receivable - net   (  3,267 )    6,264  

Notes receivable - related party, net   (  1,075 )  (  91 ) 

Accounts receivable   (  30,473 )  (  41,542 ) 

Accounts receivable - related parties     29,735     23,885  

Other receivables     11   (  225 ) 

Inventories     108,973   (  34,465 ) 

Prepayments     3,710     19,203  

Other current assets   (  544 )  (  49 ) 

Other non-current assets     1,089   (  1,372 ) 

Liabilities net change related to operation 

activities 

  

         

Contract liabilities     8,771   (  9,585 ) 

Notes payable     13,297   (  40,909 ) 

Notes payable - related parties   (  2,259 )    2,350  

Accounts payable   (  70,879 )    64,555  

Accounts payable - related parties     8,678   (  1,551 ) 

Other payables     16,353   (  11,206 ) 

Other current liabilities   (  3,270 )    4,144  

Other non-current liabilities   (  7,874 )  (  401 ) 

Cash inflow from operation activities     138,222     49,872  

Interest received     2,958     7,266  

Dividends received     40     8,540  

Interest paid   (  13,196 )  (  13,021 ) 

Income tax paid   (  240 )  (  27,623 ) 

Income tax refunded     -     1,619  

Net cash flows from operating activities     127,784     26,653  

(Continued) 
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CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES            

Other receivables - related parties decrease (increase)   7  $ 83,747   ( $ 33,969 ) 

Investment using the equity method  6(7) (  154,730 )  (  30,000 ) 

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment  6(30) (  12,988 )  (  31,144 ) 

Disposal of property, facility and equipment     154     1,882  

Acquisition of intangible assets   (  3,333 )  (  450 ) 

Decrease in refundable deposits     106     514  

Receipt of grants  6(23)   22,766     -  

Net cash outflow from investing activities   (  64,278 )  (  93,167 ) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES            

Increase in short-term borrowings  6(31)   1,245,810     787,028  

Decrease in short-term borrowings  6(31) (  1,115,160 )  (  675,837 ) 

Increase in short-term notes and bills payables     210,000     30,000  

Decrease in short-term notes and bills payables   (  240,000 )    -  

Lease principal repayment  6(31) (  1,340 )  (  1,699 ) 

Repayments of long-term borrowings  6(31) (  150,000 )  (  166,667 ) 

Increase (decrease) in guarantee deposits received  6(31) (  259 )    250  

Cash dividends paid  6(20)(31)   -   (  51,959 ) 

Net Cash outflow from financing activities   (  50,949 )  (  78,884 ) 

Effects of foreign exchange rates     1,272     1,100  

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     13,829   (  144,298 ) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period     281,012     425,310  

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period    $ 294,841    $ 281,012  
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【Attachment 7】 

Honmyue Enterprise Co. Ltd 
Comparison Table of Partial Amendments to the Articles of Incorporation 

Amended Articles Current Articles Notes 

Article 26 

If the Company generates profits in a fiscal year, it shall 

allocate no less than 2% as employee compensation. Of this 

amount, at least 30% should be allocated as compensation for 

junior employees. The distribution shall be determined by the 

Board of Directors and distributed in the form of stocks or 

cash. The Company may allocate no more than 5% of the 

above-mentioned profit for director compensation, which 

shall be determined by the Board of Directors. The 

distribution of employee and director compensation shall be 

reported to the shareholders' meeting. However, if the 

Company has accumulated losses, it shall reserve an amount 

to make up for the losses and then allocate employee and 

director compensation in accordance with the proportion. The 

scope of junior employees and the annual allocation ratio 

should be decided by the board of directors. (The following is 

omitted.) 

Article 26 

If the Company generates profits in a fiscal year, it shall 

allocate no less than 2% as employee compensation, which 

shall be determined by the Board of Directors and distributed 

in the form of stocks or cash, including eligible employees of 

subsidiary companies. The Company may allocate no more 

than 5% of the above-mentioned profit for director 

compensation, which shall be determined by the Board of 

Directors. The distribution of employee and director 

compensation shall be reported to the shareholders' meeting. 

However, if the Company has accumulated losses, it shall 

reserve an amount to make up for the losses and then allocate 

employee and director compensation in accordance with the 

proportion. (The following is omitted.) 

In accordance with the 

revised provisions of 

Article 14, Paragraph 6 of 

the Securities and 

Exchange Act by the 

competent authority. 

Article 29 
This article was established on June 29th, 1970.  

The 1st amendment on August 20th, 1970.  

The 2nd amendment on August 1st, 1973.  

The 3rd amendment on April 10th, 1977.  

The 4th amendment on May 20th, 1982.  

The 5th amendment on February 9th, 1985.  

The 6th amendment on October 10th, 1987.  

The 7th amendment on November 6th, 1989.  

The 8th amendment on May 25th, 1990.  

The 9th amendment on June 14th, 1991.  

The 10th amendment on September 8th, 1993.  

Article 29 
This article was established on June 29th, 1970.  

The 1st amendment on August 20th, 1970.  

The 2nd amendment on August 1st, 1973.  

The 3rd amendment on April 10th, 1977.  

The 4th amendment on May 20th, 1982.  

The 5th amendment on February 9th, 1985.  

The 6th amendment on October 10th, 1987.  

The 7th amendment on November 6th, 1989.  

The 8th amendment on May 25th, 1990.  

The 9th amendment on June 14th, 1991.  

The 10th amendment on September 8th, 1993.  

Add the revision dates and 

number of times to this 

charter. 
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The 11th amendment on July 11th, 1994.  

The 12th amendment on June 6th, 1997.  

The 13th amendment on May 3rd, 2000.  

The 14th amendment on October 7th, 2000.  

The 15th amendment on June 8th, 2001.  

The 16th amendment on May 28th, 2002.  

The 17th amendment on March 12th, 2003.  

The 18th amendment on May 30th, 2003.  

The 19th amendment on June 18th, 2004.  

The 20th amendment on May 26th, 2006.  

The 21st amendment on June 25th, 2008.  

The 22nd amendment on June 22nd, 2009. 

The 23rd amendment on June 23, 2010.  

The 24th amendment on June 28, 2011.  

The 25th amendment on June 29, 2012.  

The 26th amendment on June 25, 2013.  

The 27th amendment on June 20, 2014.  

The 28th amendment on June 21, 2016.  

The 29th amendment on June 27, 2018.  

The 30th amendment on June 19, 2020.  

The 31st amendment on August 27, 2021. 

The 32nd amendment on June 26, 2023. 

The 33rd amendment on June 26, 2025. 

The 11th amendment on July 11th, 1994.  

The 12th amendment on June 6th, 1997.  

The 13th amendment on May 3rd, 2000.  

The 14th amendment on October 7th, 2000.  

The 15th amendment on June 8th, 2001.  

The 16th amendment on May 28th, 2002.  

The 17th amendment on March 12th, 2003.  

The 18th amendment on May 30th, 2003.  

The 19th amendment on June 18th, 2004.  

The 20th amendment on May 26th, 2006.  

The 21st amendment on June 25th, 2008.  

The 22nd amendment on June 22nd, 2009. 

The 23rd amendment on June 23, 2010.  

The 24th amendment on June 28, 2011.  

The 25th amendment on June 29, 2012.  

The 26th amendment on June 25, 2013.  

The 27th amendment on June 20, 2014.  

The 28th amendment on June 21, 2016.  

The 29th amendment on June 27, 2018.  

The 30th amendment on June 19, 2020.  

The 31st amendment on August 27, 2021. 

The 32nd amendment on June 26, 2023. 
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【Appendix 1】 

Honmyue Enterprise Co. Ltd 

Articles of Incorporation (Before amendment)  
Amended on June 26th, 2023. 

 Chapter 1     General Provisions 

A r t i c l e  1 The Company is incorporated under Company Act, and its name shall be「Honmyue Enterprise Co. 

Ltd」 

English name shall be HONMYUE ENTERPRISE CO.,LTD 

A r t i c l e  2 The Company’s business is as below: 

1. C302010 Weaving of Textiles 

2. C301010 Spinning of Yarn 

3. C399990 Other Textile and Products Manufacturing 

4. F104110 Wholesale of Cloths, Garments, Shoes, Hats, Umbrellas and Clothing Accessories 

5. F204110 Retail Sale of Cloths, Garments, Shoes, Hats, Umbrellas and Clothing Accessories 

6. C305010 Printing, Dyeing, and Finishing 

7. C802200 Coating, Paint, Dye and Pigment Manufacturing 

8. C805050 Industrial Plastic Products Manufacturing 

9. C805070 Reinforced Plastic Products Manufacturing  

10. C805990 Other Plastic Products Manufacturing 

11. C805010 Plastic Sheets, Pipes and Tubes Manufacturing 

12. C805020 Manufacture of Plastic Films and Bags 

13. C805030 Plastic Daily Necessities Manufacturing 

14. F107190 Wholesale of Plastic Sheets & Bags 

15. F207190 Retail Sale of Plastic Sheets & Bags 

16. F401010 International Trade 

17. CF01011 Medical Devices Manufacturing 

18. JE01010 Rental and Leasing 

19. JA03010 Laundry 

20. H703100 Real Estate Leasing 

21. F108031 Wholesale of Medical Devices 

22. F208031 Retail sale of Medical Equipment 

23. C303010 Non-woven Fabrics Mills 

24. C306010 Wearing Apparel 

25. C307010 Clothing Accessories Manufacturing 

26. CJ01010 Hat Manufacturing 

27. ZZ99999 All business activities that are not prohibited or restricted by law, except those that are 

subject to special approval 

A r t i c l e  2 - 1 The Company may act as a guarantor and is not subject to the restriction in Article 16 of the 

Company Act prohibiting a company from acting as a guarantor for any person. 

A r t i c l e  2 - 2 The Company may invest in other related businesses up to an amount exceeding 40% of the paid-in 

capital without being subject to the limitations of Article 13 of the Company Act. 

A r t i c l e  3 The Company is headquartered in Changhua County, Taiwan. If necessary, the Board of Directors 

may approve the opening of branch offices in suitable locations within or outside the country. 

A r t i c l e  4 Deleted 

 Chapter 2     Capital Stock 

A r t i c l e  5 The total capital of the Company is NTD 1,838,131,700, divided into 183,813,170 shares at a par 

value of NTD 10 per share, to be issued in stages as authorized by the Board of Directors. 

A r t i c l e  6 The Company may be exempted from printing any share certificate for the shares issued and shall 

register the issued shares with the centralized securities depositary enterprise. 

A r t i c l e  7 Except as otherwise provided by laws or securities regulations, the shareholders of the Company 

shall handle matters related to share transfer, establishment of rights, pledge, loss report, inheritance, 

gift, as well as seal loss, alteration or change of address, and other share-related matters in 

accordance with the 「Guidelines for Handling Shares by Publicly Listed Companies」 

A r t i c l e  8 Stock transfer shall be suspended within 60 days prior to the annual general meeting of shareholders, 

30 days prior to any extraordinary meeting, or 5 days prior to the record date of stock dividend, cash 

dividend or any other benefits as determined by the Company. 

 Chapter 3     Shareholders’ Meeting 
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A r t i c l e  9 There are two types of shareholders’ meeting, the regular meeting, and the extraordinary meeting. 

The regular meeting shall be held once a year within six months after the end of each fiscal year. 

The extraordinary meeting shall be convened, when necessary, in accordance with the law.  

The meetings shall specify the date, time, location, and purpose of the meeting. With the consent of 

the shareholders, such notice may be made electronically. 

A r t i c l e  1 0 When a shareholder is not able to attend a shareholders’ meeting, he or she may issue a proxy, 

specifying the authorized scope, in accordance with Article 177 of the Company Act, and appoint a 

proxy to attend. The use of the proxy form shall be handled in accordance with the「Regulations 

Governing the Use of Proxies for Attendance at Shareholders’ meetings of Public Companies」unless 

otherwise provided by the Company Act. 

A r t i c l e  1 1 The shareholders' meeting is convened by the Board of Directors, with the chairman of the board 

serving as the chairman. If the chairman is on leave or not able to perform his or her duties, he or she 

shall be represented by the vice chairman. If the vice chairman is also on leave or unable to perform 

his or her duties, the chairman shall designate a director to act as his or her agent. In the absence of 

such designation, the directors shall mutually recommend a person to act as the agent. If the meeting 

is convened by a person other than the Board of Directors, the chairman shall be appointed by the 

convener. If there are two or more conveners, they shall recommend a person to act as the chairman. 

A r t i c l e  1 2 Each shareholder of the Company, except for those whose shares have no voting rights under Article 

179 of the Company Act, shall have one voting right per share. 

A r t i c l e  1 3 Unless otherwise provided by the Company Act and other relevant laws and regulations, the 

resolution of the shareholders' meeting shall be adopted by the affirmative vote of more than half of 

the total number of issued shares represented by shareholders personally or by proxy attending the 

meeting and exercising their voting rights. However, in the event of dissolution, merge, or split, the 

resolution shall be adopted by the affirmative vote of more than two-thirds of the total number of 

issued shares represented by shareholders personally or by proxy attending the meeting and 

exercising their voting rights. 

When convenes a shareholders' meeting, shareholders who exercise their voting rights through 

electronic means shall be deemed to be present in person, and relevant matters shall be handled in 

accordance with laws and regulations. 

A r t i c l e  1 4 The decisions of the shareholders' meeting shall be recorded in the meeting minutes, which shall be 

signed or stamped by the chairman and distributed to each shareholder within 20 days after the 

meeting. The meeting minutes may be distributed by means of public notice. The meeting minutes 

shall be handled in accordance with Article 183 of the Company Act. 

The production and distribution of the meeting minutes referred to in the preceding paragraph may 

be conducted electronically. 

 Chapter 4     Directors 

A r t i c l e  1 5 Since 19th term, the Board of Directors of the Company shall consist of 9-15 directors, and the 

election of directors shall adopt the candidate nomination system as provided in Article 192-1 of the 

Company Act. The directors shall be elected from the list of director candidates by the shareholders' 

meeting and serve for a term of three years, with the possibility of re-election. The procedures for 

accepting nominations of director candidates and related matters such as announcements shall be 

handled in accordance with relevant law and regulations such as the Company Act and the Securities 

and Exchange Act. 

The number of independent directors in the Board of Directors shall not be less than three people 

and shall not be less than one-fifth of the total number of directors. Matters related to the 

professional qualifications, shareholding, part-time restrictions, determination of independence, 

nomination and election methods, and other matters, shall be handled in accordance with the 

relevant laws and regulations of the security’s regulatory authority. 

The total amount of shares held by all directors shall not be less than a certain percentage of the 

Company's total issued shares, as calculated in accordance with the regulations of the securities 

regulator. 

The Company may purchase liability insurance for the directors during their term of office. 

  
Ar t i c l e  1 5 -1 Between the directors of the Company, more than half of the seats should not have any of the 

following relationships. 

1. spouse 

2. relatives within the second degree of kinship 

Ar t i c l e  1 5 -2 The remuneration of the directors of the Company shall be determined by the Board of Directors 

based on their degree of involvement in the operation of the Company and the value of their 

contribution and considering the level of remuneration commonly paid by the industry. 

 

 

https://law.moj.gov.tw/ENG/LawClass/LawAll.aspx?pcode=G0400056
https://law.moj.gov.tw/ENG/LawClass/LawAll.aspx?pcode=G0400056
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A r t i c l e  1 6 When one-third or more of the directors' seats become vacant, the Board of Directors shall convene 

an extraordinary meeting of shareholders within 60 days to fill the vacancy, and the term of office 

shall be limited to the remaining term of the original appointment. 

The calling of the Board of Directors of the Company shall state the reasons and notify all directors 

in writing, by email, or by fax seven days in advance. In case of an emergency, it may be called at 

any time and shall be notified in writing, by email, or by fax. 

A r t i c l e  1 7 The directors in office shall continue to perform their duties until their successors are elected when 

their term of office expires without being re-elected. 

A r t i c l e  1 8 The directors shall organize the Board of Directors, electing a chairman and a vice chairman by a 

two-thirds majority of attending directors and the consent of most of the attending directors, and 

carrying out all company affairs in accordance with the law, Articles of Incorporation, resolutions of 

the shareholders' meeting, and resolutions of the Board of Directors. 

A r t i c l e  1 9 The Company's business policies and other important matters shall be decided by the Board of 

Directors. Except for the first Board of Directors meeting of each term convened in accordance with 

Article 203 of the Company Act, other meetings shall be convened by the chairman of the board, 

who shall also preside over the meetings. In case the chairman is unable to perform his or her duties, 

the vice chairman shall act as the proxy. If the vice chairman is also unable to perform his or her 

duties, the chairman shall designate a director to act as the proxy, and if no such designation is made, 

the directors shall elect one from among themselves to act as the proxy. 

The Board of Directors of the Company may authorize the chairman of the board to exercise the 

powers of the board during the recess of the board, and to report to the nearest Board of Directors for 

ratification afterwards. The scope of such authorization is as follows: 

1. Important contracts approval 

2. Approval of mortgage loans on real estate and other loans 

3. Approval of the acquisition and disposal of the Company's general property and real estate 

4. The appointment of directors and supervisors of investment companies 

5. The approval of base date for capital increase or decrease and cash dividend distribution 

A r t i c l e  2 0 The Board of Directors meeting shall require the attendance of more than half of the directors, 

unless otherwise provided by the Company Act. Resolutions shall be adopted by a majority vote of 

the directors present. If a director is unable to attend due to unavoidable reasons, he or she may issue 

a letter of proxy, specifying the scope of authorization for attending the board meeting and 

entrusting another director to attend the meeting on his or her behalf, provided that one director may 

only be entrusted by one director. 

If a video conference is used for a board meeting, directors who participate in the video conference 

will be deemed to have attended in person. 

When directors have personal interests in the matters discussed at the meeting, they should explain 

the important contents of their personal interests at that board meeting. 

A r t i c l e  2 1 The Board of Directors' meeting shall be recorded in meeting minutes, signed, or stamped by the 

Chairman, and distributed to each Director within 20 days after the meeting. The meeting minutes of 

the meeting, the attendance register of the attending Directors, and the proxy appointment letters of 

the authorized representatives should be kept together and preserved by the Company. 

A r t i c l e  2 2 The Company sets up an audit committee in accordance with Article 14-4 of the Securities and 

Exchange Act, which is composed of all independent directors. The authority and related matters of 

the audit committee and its members are handled in accordance with the Securities and Exchange 

Act and other relevant laws and regulations. 

 Chapter 5     Manager 

A r t i c l e  2 3 The Company shall appoint one general manager and several managers, and the appointment, 

dismissal, and compensation shall be determined by a resolution passed by most of the directors 

present at a meeting where more than half of the directors are in attendance and agree to the 

resolution. 

A r t i c l e  2 4 Deleted 

 Chapter 6     Final Accounts 

A r t i c l e  2 5 At the close of each fiscal year, the Board of Directors shall prepare the following statements and 

submit them to the general shareholders’ meeting for approval: 

1. Business report 

2. Financial statement 

3. Surplus earning distribution or loss off-setting proposals 
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A r t i c l e  2 6 If the Company generates profits in a fiscal year, it shall allocate no less than 2% as employee 

compensation, which shall be determined by the Board of Directors and distributed in the form of 

stocks or cash, including eligible employees of subsidiary companies. The Company may allocate no 

more than 5% of the above-mentioned profit for director compensation, which shall be determined 

by the Board of Directors. The distribution of employee and director compensation shall be reported 

to the shareholders' meeting. However, if the Company has accumulated losses, it shall reserve an 

amount to make up for the losses and then allocate employee and director compensation in 

accordance with the proportion. 

If the Company has a surplus in its annual financial statements, it shall pay taxes and make 

donations in accordance with the law, make up for accumulated losses, and allocate 10% as statutory 

surplus reserve. However, if the statutory surplus reserve has reached the amount of the Company's 

paid-in capital, it may no longer be allocated. The remaining amount shall be allocated in 

accordance with the laws and regulations or converted into special surplus reserve. If there is still a 

balance, together with the accumulated undistributed profits, the Board of Directors shall propose a 

profit distribution plan and submit it to the shareholders' meeting for approval to distribute dividends 

to the shareholders. 

The dividend policy of the Company is to be aligned with the current and future development plans, 

considering the investment environment, funding requirements, domestic and foreign competition, 

and shareholder interests, among other factors. When distributing dividends to shareholders, it may 

be done in cash or stock, with the cash dividend not being less than 10% of the total dividend 

amount. The actual distribution ratio is authorized by the Board of Directors based on the 

Company's financial condition and capital budget. 

 Chapter 7     Supplementary Provision 

A r t i c l e  2 7 The Company's organizational regulations and procedures shall be determined separately by the 

Board of Directors. 

A r t i c l e  2 8 Matters not specified in these Articles of Incorporation shall be handled in accordance with the 

Company Act and other relevant laws and regulations. 

A r t i c l e  2 9 This article was established on June 29th, 1970.  

The 1st amendment on August 20th, 1970.  

The 2nd amendment on August 1st, 1973.  

The 3rd amendment on April 10th, 1977.  

The 4th amendment on May 20th, 1982.  

The 5th amendment on February 9th, 1985.  

The 6th amendment on October 10th, 1987.  

The 7th amendment on November 6th, 1989.  

The 8th amendment on May 25th, 1990.  

The 9th amendment on June 14th, 1991.  

The 10th amendment on September 8th, 1993.  

The 11th amendment on July 11th, 1994.  

The 12th amendment on June 6th, 1997.  

The 13th amendment on May 3rd, 2000.  

The 14th amendment on October 7th, 2000.  

The 15th amendment on June 8th, 2001.  

The 16th amendment on May 28th, 2002.  

The 17th amendment on March 12th, 2003.  

The 18th amendment on May 30th, 2003.  

The 19th amendment on June 18th, 2004.  

The 20th amendment on May 26th, 2006.  

The 21st amendment on June 25th, 2008.  

The 22nd amendment on June 22nd, 2009. 

A r t i c l e  2 9 The 23rd amendment on June 23, 2010.  

The 24th amendment on June 28, 2011.  

The 25th amendment on June 29, 2012.  

The 26th amendment on June 25, 2013.  

The 27th amendment on June 20, 2014.  

The 28th amendment on June 21, 2016.  

The 29th amendment on June 27, 2018.  

The 30th amendment on June 19, 2020.  

The 31st amendment on August 27, 2021. 

The 32nd amendment on June 26, 2023. 
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【Appendix 2】 

Honmyue Enterprise Co. Ltd 
Rule of Procedure for Shareholders’ meetings 

Amended on August 27th, 2021. 
Article 1 The rules of procedure for the shareholders' meeting of the Company shall be governed by this regulation, unless 

otherwise provided by laws or the Articles of Incorporation. 

Article 2 Unless otherwise provided by law or regulation, the Company's shareholders’ meetings shall be convened by the 

Board of Directors. 

The Company shall prepare electronic versions of the shareholders’ meeting notice and proxy forms, and the 

origins of and explanatory materials relating to all proposals, including proposals for ratification, matters for 

deliberation, or the election or dismissal of directors or supervisors, and upload them to the Market Observation 

Post System (MOPS) before 30 days before the date of a regular shareholders’ meeting or before 15 days before the 

date of an extraordinary shareholders’ meeting. The Company shall prepare electronic versions of the shareholders’ 

meeting agenda and supplemental meeting materials and upload them to the MOPS before 21 days before the date 

of the regular shareholders’ meeting or before 15 days before the date of the special shareholders’ meeting. Before 

15 days before the date of the shareholders’ meeting, the Company shall also have prepared the shareholders’ 

meeting agenda and supplemental meeting materials and made them available for review by shareholders at any 

time. The meeting agenda and supplemental materials shall also be displayed at the Company and the professional 

shareholder services agent designated thereby. 

The reasons for convening a shareholders’ meeting shall be specified in the meeting notice and public 

announcement. With the consent of the addressee, the meeting notice may be given in electronic form. 

Electing or dismissing directors, amending the Articles of Incorporation, reducing capital, applying for suspension 

of public offering, granting permission for directors to compete, increasing capital by using retained earnings or 

capital surplus, dissolving the Company, merging, splitting, or matters stipulated in Article 185-1 of the Company 

Act, Article 26-1 and Article 43-6 of the Securities and Exchange Act, and matters stipulated in Article 56-1 and 

Article 60-2 of the Guidelines for the Handling of Securities Issuance and Offering by Issuers, as well as their 

major contents, shall be listed and explained in the notice of convocation, and shall not be proposed by ad hoc 

motions. 

The notice for convening the shareholders' meeting has already stated the reason for the comprehensive election of 

directors and the date of appointment. After the election is completed at the same meeting, the date of appointment 

shall not be changed through an ad hoc motion or other means. 

Shareholders who hold more than one percent of the total issued shares may propose a proposal for a regular 

shareholders' meeting, limited to one proposal. If more than one proposal is made, none will be included in the 

agenda. However, if a shareholder's proposal is a suggestion to urge the Company to enhance the public interest or 

fulfill social responsibilities, the Board of Directors may still include it in the agenda. In addition, if the proposal 

made by the shareholder falls under any of the circumstances listed in Article 172-1, Paragraph 4 of the Company 

Act, the Board of Directors may exclude it from the agenda. 

The Company shall announce before the suspension of stock transfer registration for the shareholders' meeting that 

it accepts proposals from shareholders, the methods of written or electronic submission, the place of acceptance, 

and the period of acceptance. The acceptance period shall not be less than ten days. 

The proposed agenda items submitted by shareholders shall be limited to 300 characters. Any submission 

exceeding this limit shall not be included in the agenda. The shareholder who submitted the proposal shall attend 

the shareholders' meeting in person or appoint a proxy to attend and participate in the discussion of the proposed 

agenda item. 

The Company shall notify the proposing shareholder of the processing result before the notice date of the 

shareholders' meeting and include the proposal that complies with this provision in the meeting notice. For 

shareholder proposals that are not included in the agenda, the Board of Directors shall explain the reasons for not 

including them at the shareholders' meeting. 

Article 3 For each shareholders’ meeting, a shareholder may appoint a proxy to attend the meeting by providing the proxy 

form issued by the Company and stating the scope of the proxy's authorization. 

A shareholder may issue only one proxy form and appoint only one proxy for any given shareholders’ meeting and 

shall deliver the proxy form to the Company before five days before the date of the shareholders’ meeting. When 

duplicate proxy forms are delivered, the one received earliest shall prevail unless a declaration is made to cancel 

the previous proxy appointment. 

After a proxy form has been delivered to the Company, if the shareholder intends to attend the meeting in person or 

to exercise voting rights by correspondence or electronically, a written notice of proxy cancellation shall be 

submitted to the Company before two business days before the meeting date. If the cancellation notice is submitted 

after that time, votes cast at the meeting by the proxy shall prevail. 

Article 4 The venue for a shareholders’ meeting shall be the premises of the Company, or a place easily accessible to 

shareholders and suitable for a shareholders’ meeting. The meeting may begin no earlier than 9 a.m. and no later 

than 3 p.m. Full consideration shall be given to the opinions of the independent directors with respect to the place 

and time of the meeting. 

Article 5 The Company shall specify in the meeting notice the time and location for shareholders to register, as well as other 

matters to be noted. The registration time for shareholders shall be at least thirty minutes before the start of the 

meeting, and the registration place shall be clearly marked with suitable and sufficient personnel to handle it. 

Shareholders or their authorized agents (Shareholders) shall attend the shareholders' meeting with their attendance 

certificate, attendance card or other attendance documents.  

The Company shall not arbitrarily require shareholders to provide other proof of identity in addition to the proof of 
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attendance relied upon by the shareholder for attendance. Those who solicit proxies shall also bring their identity 

documents for verification. 

The Company shall furnish attending shareholders with the meeting agenda book, annual report, attendance card, 

speaker's slips, voting slips, and other meeting materials. Where there is an election of directors or supervisors, 

pre-printed ballots shall also be furnished. 

When the government or a juristic person is a shareholder, it may be represented by more than one representative at 

a shareholders’ meeting. When a juristic person is appointed to attend as proxy, it may designate only one person to 

represent it in the meeting. 

Article 6 If a shareholders’ meeting is convened by the Board of Directors, the meeting shall be chaired by the chairperson of 

the board. When the chairperson of the board is on leave or for any reason unable to exercise the powers of the 

chairperson, the vice chairperson shall act in place of the chairperson; if there is no vice chairperson or the vice 

chairperson also is on leave or for any reason unable to exercise the powers of the vice chairperson, the chairperson 

shall appoint one of the managing directors to act as chair, or, if there are no managing directors, one of the 

directors shall be appointed to act as chair. Where the chairperson does not make such a designation, the managing 

directors or the directors shall select from among themselves one person to serve as chair. 

When a managing director or a director serves as chair, as referred to in the preceding paragraph, the managing 

director or director shall be one who has held that position for six months or more and who understands the 

financial and business conditions of the Company. The same shall be true for a representative of a juristic person 

director that serves as chair. 

It is advisable that shareholders’ meetings convened by the Board of Directors be chaired by the chairperson of the 

board in person and attended by most of the directors, at least one supervisor in person, and at least one member of 

each functional committee on behalf of the committee. The attendance shall be recorded in the meeting minutes. 

If a shareholders’ meeting is convened by a party with power to convene but other than the Board of Directors, the 

convening party shall chair the meeting. When there are two or more such convening parties, they shall mutually 

select a chair from among themselves. 

The Company may appoint its attorneys, certified public accountants, or related persons retained by it to attend a 

shareholders’ meeting in a non-voting capacity. 

Article 7 The Company, beginning from the time it accepts shareholder attendance registrations, shall make an uninterrupted 

audio and video recording of the registration procedure, the proceedings of the shareholders’ meeting, and the 

voting and vote counting procedures. 

The recorded materials of the preceding paragraph shall be retained for at least one year. If, however, a shareholder 

files a lawsuit pursuant to Article 189 of the Company Act, the recording shall be retained until the conclusion of 

the litigation. 

Article 8 Attendance at shareholders’ meetings shall be calculated based on numbers of shares. The number of shares in 

attendance shall be calculated according to the shares indicated by the attendance book and sign-in cards handed in, 

and the shares checked in on the virtual meeting platform, plus the number of shares whose voting rights are 

exercised by correspondence or electronically. 

The chair shall call the meeting to order at the appointed meeting time and disclose information concerning the 

number of nonvoting shares and number of shares represented by shareholders attending the meeting. 

However, when the attending shareholders do not represent a majority of the total number of issued shares, the 

chair may announce a postponement, provided that no more than two such postponements, for a combined total of 

no more than one hour, may be made. If the quorum is not met after two postponements and the attending 

shareholders still represent less than one third of the total number of issued shares, the chair shall declare the 

meeting adjourned. In the event of a virtual shareholders’ meeting, the Company shall also declare the meeting 

adjourned at the virtual meeting platform. 

If the quorum is not met after two postponements as referred to in the preceding paragraph, but the attending 

shareholders represent one third or more of the total number of issued shares, a tentative resolution may be adopted 

pursuant to Article 175, paragraph 1 of the Company Act; all shareholders shall be notified of the tentative 

resolution and another shareholders’ meeting shall be convened within one month. In the event of a virtual 

shareholders’ meeting, shareholders intending to attend the meeting online shall re-register to the Company in 

accordance with Article 6. 

When, prior to conclusion of the meeting, the attending shareholders represent most of the total number of issued 

shares, the chair may resubmit the tentative resolution for a vote by the shareholders’ meeting pursuant to Article 

174 of the Company Act. 

Article 9 If a shareholders’ meeting is convened by the Board of Directors, the meeting agenda shall be set by the Board of 

Directors. Votes shall be cast on each separate proposal in the agenda (including extraordinary motions and 

amendments to the original proposals set out in the agenda). The meeting shall proceed in the order set by the 

agenda, which may not be changed without a resolution of the shareholders’ meeting. 

The provisions of the preceding paragraph apply mutatis mutandis to a shareholders’ meeting convened by a party 

with the power to convene that is not the Board of Directors. 

The chair may not declare the meeting adjourned prior to completion of deliberation on the meeting agenda of the 

preceding two paragraphs (including extraordinary motions), except by a resolution of the shareholders’ meeting. If 

the chair declares the meeting adjourned in violation of the rules of procedure, the other members of the Board of 

Directors shall promptly assist the attending shareholders in electing a new chair in accordance with statutory 

procedures, by agreement of a majority of the votes represented by the attending shareholders, and then continue 

the meeting. 

The chair shall allow ample opportunity during the meeting for explanation and discussion of proposals and of 

amendments or extraordinary motions put forward by the shareholders; when the chair is of the opinion that a 

proposal has been discussed sufficiently to put it to a vote, the chair may announce the discussion closed, call for a 

vote, and schedule sufficient time for voting. 

Article 10 Before speaking, an attending shareholder must specify on a speaker's slip the subject of the speech, his or her 
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shareholder account number (or attendance card number), and account name. The order in which shareholders 

speak will be set by the chair. 

A shareholder in attendance who has submitted a speaker's slip but does not actually speak shall be deemed to have 

not spoken. When the content of the speech does not correspond to the subject given on the speaker's slip, the 

spoken content shall prevail. 

Except with the consent of the chair, a shareholder may not speak more than twice on the same proposal, and a 

single speech may not exceed 5 minutes. If the shareholder's speech violates the rules or exceeds the scope of the 

agenda item, the chair may terminate the speech. 

When an attending shareholder is speaking, other shareholders may not speak or interrupt unless they have sought 

and obtained the consent of the chair and the shareholder that has the floor; the chair shall stop any violation. 

When a juristic person shareholder appoints two or more representatives to attend a shareholders’ meeting, only 

one of the representatives so appointed may speak on the same proposal.  

After attending the shareholder's speech, the chairman may personally or designate relevant personnel to respond. 

Article 11 Voting at a shareholders’ meeting shall be calculated based the number of shares. 

With respect to resolutions of shareholders’ meetings, the number of shares held by a shareholder with no voting 

rights shall not be calculated as part of the total number of issued shares. 

When a shareholder is an interested party in relation to an agenda item, and there is the likelihood that such a 

relationship would prejudice the interests of the Company, that shareholder may not vote on that item, and may not 

exercise voting rights as proxy for any other shareholder. 

The number of shares for which voting rights may not be exercised under the preceding paragraph shall not be 

calculated as part of the voting rights represented by attending shareholders. 

With the exception of a trust enterprise or a shareholder services agent approved by the competent securities 

authority, when one person is concurrently appointed as proxy by two or more shareholders, the voting rights 

represented by that proxy may not exceed three percent of the voting rights represented by the total number of 

issued shares. If that percentage is exceeded, the voting rights more than that percentage shall not be included in 

the calculation.  

Article 12 A shareholder shall be entitled to one vote for each share held, except when the shares are restricted shares or are 

deemed non-voting shares under Article 179, paragraph 2 of the Company Act.  

When the Company holds a shareholders’ meeting, it shall adopt exercise of voting rights by electronic means and 

may adopt exercise of voting rights by correspondence. When voting rights are exercised by correspondence or 

electronic means, the method of exercise shall be specified in the shareholders’ meeting notice. A shareholder 

exercising voting rights by correspondence or electronic means will be deemed to have attended the meeting in 

person, but to have waived his or her rights with respect to the extraordinary motions and amendments to original 

proposals of that meeting; it is therefore advisable that the Company avoid the submission of extraordinary motions 

and amendments to original proposals. 

A shareholder intending to exercise voting rights by correspondence or electronic means under the preceding 

paragraph shall deliver a written declaration of intent to the Company before two days before the date of the 

shareholders’ meeting. When duplicate declarations of intent are delivered, the one received earliest shall prevail, 

except when a declaration is made to cancel the earlier declaration of intent. 

After a shareholder has exercised voting rights by correspondence or electronic means, in the event the shareholder 

intends to attend the shareholders’ meeting in person or online, a written declaration of intent to retract the voting 

rights already exercised under the preceding paragraph shall be made known to the Company, by the same means 

by which the voting rights were exercised, before two business days before the date of the shareholders’ meeting.  

If the notice of retraction is submitted after that time, the voting rights already exercised by correspondence or 

electronic means shall prevail. When a shareholder has exercised voting rights both by correspondence or 

electronic means and by appointing a proxy to attend a shareholders’ meeting, the voting rights exercised by the 

proxy in the meeting shall prevail. Except as otherwise provided in the Company Act and in the Company's 

Articles of Incorporation, the passage of a proposal shall require an affirmative vote of most of the voting rights 

represented by the attending shareholders. At the time of a vote, for each proposal, the chair or a person designated 

by the chair shall first announce the total number of voting rights represented by the attending shareholders, 

followed by a poll of the shareholders. After the conclusion of the meeting, on the same day it is held, the results 

for each proposal, based on the numbers of votes for and against and the number of abstentions, shall be entered 

into the MOPS. 

When there is an amendment or an alternative to a proposal, the chair shall present the amended or alternative 

proposal together with the original proposal and decide the order in which they will be put to a vote. When any one 

among them is passed, the other proposals will then be deemed rejected, and no further voting shall be required. 

Vote monitoring and counting personnel for the voting on a proposal shall be appointed by the chair, provided that 

all monitoring personnel shall be shareholders of the Company.  

Vote counting for shareholders’ meeting proposals or elections shall be conducted in public at the place of the 

shareholders’ meeting. Immediately after vote counting has been completed, the results of the voting, including the 

statistical tallies of the numbers of votes, shall be announced on-site at the meeting, and a record made of the vote. 
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Article 13 The election of directors or supervisors at a shareholders’ meeting shall be held in accordance with the applicable 

election and appointment rules adopted by the Company, and the voting results shall be announced on-site 

immediately, including the names of those elected as directors and supervisors and the numbers of votes with 

which they were elected, and the names of directors and supervisors not elected and number of votes they received. 

The ballots for the election referred to in the preceding paragraph shall be sealed with the signatures of the 

monitoring personnel and kept in proper custody for at least one year. If, however, a shareholder files a lawsuit 

pursuant to Article 189 of the Company Act, the ballots shall be retained until the conclusion of the litigation. 

Article 14 Matters relating to the resolutions of a shareholders’ meeting shall be recorded in the meeting minutes. The meeting 

minutes shall be signed or sealed by the chair of the meeting and a copy distributed to each shareholder within 20 

days after the conclusion of the meeting. The meeting minutes may be produced and distributed in electronic form. 

The Company may distribute the meeting minutes of the preceding paragraph by means of a public announcement 

made through the MOPS. 

The meeting minutes shall accurately record the year, month, day, and place of the meeting, the chair's full name, 

the methods by which resolutions were adopted, and a summary of the deliberations and their voting results 

(including the number of voting rights), and disclose the number of voting rights won by each candidate in the 

event of an election of directors or supervisors. The minutes shall be retained for the duration of the existence of 

the Company.  

 

Article 15 The number of shares solicited by the solicitor and the number of shares represented by the proxy agent should be 

compiled into a statistical table in the prescribed format by the Company on the day of the shareholders’ meeting 

and displayed clearly at the meeting venue.  

For matters resolved at the shareholders' meeting that involve significant information required by laws or 

regulatory authorities, the Company should transmit the content to the Public Information Observation Station 

within the prescribed time.  

Article 16 Staff handling administrative affairs of a shareholders’ meeting shall wear identification cards or arm bands. 

The chair may direct the proctors or security personnel to help maintain order at the meeting place. When proctors 

or security personnel help maintain order at the meeting place, they shall wear an identification card or armband 

bearing the word "Proctor." 

At the place of a shareholders’ meeting, if a shareholder attempts to speak through any device other than the public 

address equipment set up by the Company, the chair may prevent the shareholder from so doing. 

When a shareholder violates the rules of procedure and defies the chair's correction, obstructing the proceedings 

and refusing to heed calls to stop, the chair may direct the proctors or security personnel to escort the shareholder 

from the meeting. 

Article 17 When a meeting is in progress, the chair may announce a break based on time considerations. If a force majeure 

event occurs, the chair may rule the meeting temporarily suspended and announce a time when, in view of the 

circumstances, the meeting will be resumed. 

If the meeting venue is no longer available for continued use and not all of the items (including extraordinary 

motions) on the meeting agenda have been addressed, the shareholders’ meeting may adopt a resolution to resume 

the meeting at another venue. 

A resolution may be adopted at a shareholders’ meeting to defer or resume the meeting within five days in 

accordance with Article 182 of the Company Act. 

Article 18 This rule shall be implemented after being passed by the shareholders' meeting and shall apply to any subsequent 

amendments. 
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【Appendix 3】 

The impact of bonus shares on the Company's operating performance, earnings per 

share, and shareholder return: 
 The Company did not distribute any bonus shares this fiscal year, so it does not apply. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 【Appendix 4】 

Honmyue Enterprise Co. Ltd 

The Shareholding Status of all Directors  
1. The total issued shares of the Company as of the record date for the Annual Shareholders' Meeting on 

April 28, 2025, is 129,896,969 shares. 

2. According to Article 26 of the Securities and Exchange Act and the 「Regulations Governing 

Disclosure of the Proportion of Shareholdings Held by Directors and Supervisors of Public Companies 

and Verification」 the total amount of shares held by all directors of the Company shall not be less than 

8,000,000 shares. 

3. As of the record date of this shareholders’ meeting on April 28, 2025, the shareholding status of all 

directors is as listed in the following table, which meets the shareholding percentage standards set forth 

in Article 26 of the Securities and Exchange Act. 

 

Job title Name No. of shares held 
Shareholding 

% 

Chairman Po-Yu Yeh 5,762,132 4.44% 

Vice-chairman 

Chenghong Investment Co., 

Ltd. 

Representative: Chenghua 

Yeh 

11,427,805 8.80% 

Director Chun-lin Yeh 6,311,088 4.86% 

Director Ming-Yi Lai 344,000 0.26% 

Director Jen-Hsing Hsu 0 0 

Director Mao-lin Wang 409,000 0.31% 

Director Pai-Jung Ko 0 0 

Director Jen-kai Yang 0 0 

Independent director Chen-chi Hsiao 0 0 

Independent director Jung-fu Lee 0 0 

Independent director Kuei-chu Yeh 0 0 

 Total number of shares held by all directors. 24,254,025 18.67% 

 

 

 


